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 SEVERFIELD–ROWEN PLC 
IS THE LARGEST SPECIALIST 
STRUCTURAL STEELWORK 
GROUP IN THE UK, WITH 
A REPUTATION FOR 
PERFORMANCE AND VALUE.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

04 05 06 07 08

Revenue

£394.3m
é31.2%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying Basic Earnings
Per Share

42.2p
é18.1%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying Profi t 
Before Tax

£52.5m
é22.2%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying 
Operating Margin

14.0%
ê1.4%

04 05 06 07 08

Profi t After Tax

£24.0m
ê9.1%

04 05 06 07 08

Dividend Per Share

20.0p
= 0.0%
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{ Revenue increased by £93.6 million to 
£394.3 million (2007: £300.7 million)

{ Underlying* operating margin at 14.0% 
(2007: 14.2%)

{ Underlying profi t before tax increased to
£52.5 million (2007: £42.9 million)

{ Underlying profi t before tax margin at 13.3%
(2007: 14.3%)

{ Profi t after tax (reflecting non-underlying items)
of £24.0 million (2007: £26.4 million)

{ Basic earnings per share of 27.06p
(2007: 31.77p)

{ Final dividend of 10.00p per share giving total 
dividend of 20.00p (2007: 20.00p)

{ Year end net borrowings of £15.8 million
(2007: £48.1 million)

{ Current order book value £311 million

Financial and non-fi nancial Key Performance Indicators are discussed more
fully on page 20

* Underlying is before the amortisation of acquired intangible assets of 
£9.15 million (2007: £2.20 million), movements in losses on derivative financial
instruments of £0.74 million (2007: £2.39 million), the associated tax benefits
from these items and the tax cost from the phasing out of Industrial Buildings 
Allowances of £6.3 million in 2008.
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MORE LONDON, PLOT 7
} Severfi eld–Reeve Structures

Overlooking Tower Bridge and City Hall, 7 More London Riverside 
is a core offi ce development for the new London headquarters of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The building consists of a part seven and 
part ten fl oors and will include retail space.

Covering an area of more than 65,000 sqm, the project consists of 
more than 5,000 tonnes of fabricated steelwork, of which the majority 
is coated with 60 minutes fi re protection paint.

THE PORTFOLIO
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OUR OPERATIONS

MARKET SECTORS

EDUCATION

Group companies have extensive 
experience in the provision of structural 
steelwork in education facilities. An 
important sector, with significant 
demand throughout the UK.

STADIUMS 
& LEISURE

The Group has an unrivalled record in 
the design, engineering and building of 
many of the UK’s best known stadiums 
and has provided timely and cost-
effective solutions for long spanning, 
architecturally innovative structures. 
Group successes include Arsenal’s 
Emirates Stadium, Wimbledon Centre 
Court and Wales Millennium Centre.

HEALTH

The majority of hospitals are specified 
with structural steel frames. Span length, 
enhanced flexibility, adaptability and 
speed of construction are key factors 
conferring advantages to the Group in 
this large sector.

POWER STATIONS &
INDUSTRIAL

Power Stations in the UK, Ireland 
and overseas have always been an 
important element for the Group 
where its capability to deal with 
special construction and engineering 
requirement leads to its unrivalled 
success in this sector. Our experience 
and professionalism in delivering such 
projects enables the Group to continue 
in its pivotal role in supply to this 
growing sector.

THE GROUP HAS INVESTED IN FURTHER 
PRODUCT OFFERINGS TO PROVIDE CLIENTS 
WITH UNRIVALLED SERVICES AND VALUE IN 
THE EXECUTION OF THEIR PROJECTS

16092SEVERFIE.indd   04 21/04/2009   11:38
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CITY CENTRE
& RETAIL

Project management and supply 
chain linkage are vital aspects in the 
provision of successful execution in 
these challenging city centre and out 
of town projects.

WAREHOUSE &
DISTRIBUTION

The Group’s competitive strengths, 
including design capability, supply 
chain co-ordination and fabrication/
erection speeds are key to their success 
in this sector 

COMMERCIAL OFFICES

Performance benefits from Fabsec and 
Firebeam, together with other initiatives, 
have underpinned the Group’s success 
in this sector.

TRANSPORT, BRIDGES 
AND CAR PARKS

The Group has a strong reputation 
for successful delivery of major 
transportation related projects both in 
the UK and overseas, including airports, 
and has extensive experience for all 
types of bridgework. Group successes 
include Heathrow’s Terminal 5, Gatwick 
Pier 6 passenger bridge, the multi award 
winning Gateshead Millennium Bridge 
and Midland Mainline bridge.

BUILDING NEW RELATIONSHIPS
Joint Venture Agreement with JSW Building Systems, India 

In November 2008, a Joint Venture agreement was signed 
in India with JSW Building Systems Ltd (a subsidiary of JSW 
Steel Ltd of India) to jointly create a structural steelwork 
business based in Bellary and Mumbai, India.

The core operations of the new company, which will be 
called JSW Severfield Structures Ltd, will be based adjacent 
to JSW Steel’s Vijayanagar works in Bellary District, 
220 miles south of Bangalore and some 390 miles 
south-east of Mumbai.

The business will be involved in the design, fabrication and 
erection of structural steelwork principally to service the 
Indian markets.

The total investment cost of the 50/50 joint venture is 
estimated at circa £30 million and will be funded through 
a mixture of approximately two thirds debt and one third 
equity, with the debt element raised from banks based in 
India and the UK. Initial revenues from the new business 
are expected in 2011.

Severfield-Rowen is delighted to be establishing a business 
in India with a partner such as JSW Steel, and is confident 
that it will provide the Group with a platform for significant 
growth in an area with large and growing infrastructure 
and construction markets.
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OUR STRUCTURE
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 Left z Severfi eld–Reeve Structures’ 
 production facility at Dalton, North Yorkshire

Site key:
Lines 1-5:  Fabrication
Line 6:  Fabsec/Plated beams
Lines 7-9:  Intumescent (Fire Protection) paint
Area 10: Small components (not shown in picture)
Area 11:  Raw material stock
Area 12:  Fabricated stock
Area 13:  Fittings workshop

zzz Watson Steel Structures’
 production facility at Bolton, Lancashire

zz Atlas Ward Structures’
 production facility at Sherburn, North Yorkshire

z Fisher Engineering’s
 production facility at Enniskillen, Northern Ireland

Steelcraft 
Erection
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Construction 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Overview
In my first period as Chairman, it is my pleasure 
to report on a year of record underlying financial 
performance and major strategic development for 
the Company. 

In 2008, we have produced higher revenues and 
underlying profits, a robust balance sheet, good order 
recruitment and have created new opportunities 
outside of the UK, for both the short and long term.

Importantly, the Company has moved its focus 
sufficiently early into those sectors of the UK that 
have been expanding and has also targeted overseas 
markets, to counteract the anticipated fall in demand 
in some of the major, traditional UK segments.

The integration of Fisher Engineering, acquired in 
October 2007, has been very successful. Despite the 
decline of the markets in Ireland, Fisher Engineering 
remains competitive and busy and it has made a 
significant contribution to the Company’s overall 
results, including UK market share advantage 
development.

The Company is positioning itself to face the 
challenges of the short term and to take advantage of 
its strategically strengthened position when economic 
conditions improve.

Results
Underlying operating profit (before amortisation 
of acquired intangible assets of £9.2 million and 
the losses on the movements in derivative financial 
instruments of £0.7 million) increased by 29.1% to a 
record £55.1 million (2007: £42.7 million) on increased 
revenue of £394.3 million (2007: £300.7 million).

The underlying operating margin was 14.0% 
(2007: 14.2%) which in the economic downturn 
is very commendable.

Following finance costs of £2.6 million underlying 
profit before tax was 22.2% higher at £52.5 million 
(2007: £42.9 million) producing an 18.1% increase in 
underlying basic earnings per share of 42.2p 
(2007: 35.7p).

Profit after tax was £24.0 million (2007: £26.4 million), 
with basic earnings per share of 27.1p (2007: 31.8p), 
both reflecting non-underlying items.

We ended the year with significantly reduced net 
borrowings of £15.8 million (2007: £48.1 million).
 
Dividend
In November 2008, at the time of the Interim 
Management Statement, the Board stated its intent to 
follow a prudent and more sustainable dividend policy.

Consequently, we are pleased to recommend a final 
dividend of 10.00p per share, thus maintaining the 
total dividend payment for 2008 of 20.00p per share 
(2007: 20.00p).

The Board’s policy remains to follow this prudent 
approach in the current year (2009) and continue to 
monitor the business environment going forward.

Board
At the end of May 2008, Peter Levine retired from 
his role as Chairman. The Board thanks him for many 
years of first class contribution to the Company and 
his role in its development. I had the pleasure of 
becoming the new Chairman.

At the same time, John Featherstone retired from his 
position as non-executive Director, and the Board 
number was reduced to seven overall, including three 
executive Directors.

Four executives from the Plc Board moved to join 
four other Directors in the Executive Management 
Committee, which is now effectively focused on 
strategic and operational performance matters relating 
to the business.

The new configuration has operated extremely 
well and provides the Board with clear visibility and 
engagement in all relevant areas. 

People
The Board has met at all our trading business 
locations across the Group within the past 12 months, 
engaging with local management and staff who have 
greatly impressed with their knowledge, attitude and 
experience. Their work rate and innovation remain key 
to the Company’s success.

Outlook
In January 2008, the Company was one of the first to 
observe and voice concern at the potential weakening 
of demand in the retail and commercial sectors in 
the UK. Since then, it has been following a path of 
commercial diversification which is proving to be a 
successful policy.

The Company is in robust financial condition and is 
well equipped for the future. We are confident that 
even against a poor macroeconomic outlook for the 
period, we will continue to produce a satisfactory 
performance in the coming 12 months and that the 
strong order book and balance sheet will support the 
Company’s ambitions.

“IN MY FIRST PERIOD AS CHAIRMAN, 
IT IS MY PLEASURE TO REPORT ON A YEAR 
OF RECORD UNDERLYING FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE AND MAJOR STRATEGIC 
DEVELOPMENT FOR THE COMPANY.”

Toby Hayward
CHAIRMAN
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STAYTHORPE POWER STATION
} Severfield–Reeve Structures

Located on a brownfield site which previously housed two coal 
stations, this project will become a state-of-the-art 1650 MW power 
station. It will be a combined cycle gas turbine station and comprise 
four generating units, producing enough electricity to power around 
2 million homes (or the whole of Nottinghamshire).

5,000 tonnes of structural steelwork will be utilised in the project.

THE PORTFOLIO

16092SEVERFIE.indd   09 21/04/2009   11:38



10 Severfi eld—Rowen Plc Annual Report 2008

16092 21/04/09 Proof 7 Back End

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

In 2008, Severfield–Rowen further consolidated its 
position as market leader in the steelwork fabrication 
industry, increasing domestic market share and 
successfully being awarded, and executing, many 
significant, high profile projects.

Business
The Company provides commercial value and high 
levels of satisfaction to its blue-chip customer base and 
their supply chains, which, together with cost base, 
service range, experience and people skills, enables 
it to continue to offer improved and competitive 
solutions to clients and their projects.

Our range of service has been successfully extended 
to more clients in all sectors, including power stations, 
waste to energy facilities, data centres, public 
buildings, education facilities, transport and 
infrastructure, many in areas where significant 
investment programmes remain.

The overall effect has led to the Company achieving 
an increase in domestic market share.

“IN 2008, SEVERFIELD–ROWEN FURTHER 
CONSOLIDATED ITS POSITION AS MARKET LEADER 
IN THE STEELWORK FABRICATION INDUSTRY, 
INCREASING DOMESTIC MARKET SHARE AND 
SUCCESSFULLY BEING AWARDED, AND EXECUTING, 
MANY SIGNIFICANT, HIGH PROFILE PROJECTS.”

Tom Haughey
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In 2008, the Company anticipated that it would need 
to export a proportion of its output, albeit at lower 
margins, for 2010. Consequently, we opened an office 
in Abu Dhabi to facilitate its sales intentions to the 
petrochemical markets in the Middle East, which will 
benefit from more favourable exchange rates and 
shipping costs.

Order Book
The order book, standing now at £311 million, remains 
strong representing almost 12 months’ activity and 
consists of business from all sectors of the UK market, 
including power stations, education, bridgework, 
stadiums, health and transport.

The Company has a pipeline of potential work in its 
domestic and overseas markets, which gives it cause 
for cautious optimism beyond the current order 
book, although we do expect to see continuing 
pressure on margins.

Costs
The Company has a highly competitive cost base and 
capability, which is being further enhanced through 
management initiatives, controlled spending and 
continuous review.

In the latter half of 2008, production and overhead 
cost reductions were made across the Group providing 
annual savings going forward of £3 million.

Severfield–Reeve Projects is a subsidiary company 
based in North Yorkshire engaged primarily in local, 
small-scale Design and Build projects. The company’s 
average turnover in recent years has been £12 million. 
The decision was taken in 2008 to trim the operations 
of this company reflecting the local decline in sales 
opportunity and forecast profitability. During 2009, 
evaluation of this business is likely to see further 
reductions in its scale. 

India
New operations will be commissioned in India 
during 2010 through a Joint Venture Company. The 
business plan for the new company, JSW Severfield 
Structures Ltd, is based on replicating many of the 
strengths which have been realised in the UK which, 
in conjunction with a strong commercial partner, will 
bring significant market potential for the new venture.

The operation in India will provide the Company 
with real and sustainable growth opportunities for the 
coming years.
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WIMBLEDON CENTRE COURT
} Watson Steel Structures

The multi-million pound redevelopment of Wimbledon’s famous Centre 
Court includes enlarging the bowl to increase capacity from 13,800 to 15,000 
and a new 5,200 sqm, 16 m high retractable roof, which will be operational 
for the 2009 Championships.

The project incorporates 3,900 tonnes of fabricated steelwork.

THE PORTFOLIO
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW CONTINUED

At Severfield–Reeve Structures in Dalton, new, high 
speed processing equipment was installed in two 
lines and logistical traffic and storage improvements 
were made.

A new business division was created at Atlas Ward in 
Sherburn, to produce structural steel staircases and 
light steel, which was supported by new investment. 
The projected annual turnover is now £4 million, 
which previously would have been subcontracted to 
companies outside of the Group.

Investments at Watson Steel Structures, Bolton and 
Fisher Engineering near Enniskillen were made to 
improve site accommodation, storage, handling and 
logistics.

Safety, Health and Environment

The Executive Committee takes a leading role 
in the development and implementation of the 
Company’s progress in the areas of Safety, Health and 
Environment. 

In recent years, the Company has taken major steps to 
improve further its performance in key areas:

l A full-time dedicated Group Director and a 
dedicated organisation of 13 members to focus on 
improvement.

l The creation and distribution of a corporate policy 
for Sustainability, Community Involvement, Equal 
Opportunities, Ethical Trading, Supply Chain and 
formal accreditation standards.

l The award to all operational companies within 
the Group of the Steel Construction Sustainability 
Charter.

l The development and deployment of innovative 
accident prevention systems for materials handling 
and operator access during steel erection.

l OHSAS 18001: 2007 (Health & Safety).
l BSEN ISO 14001: 2004 (Environmental).
l An improvement in Accident Frequency Ratio over 

12 months from 1.32 in 2007 to 1.06 in 2008.

Further improvement objectives have been set 
for 2009.

 

Risk Management
Management regularly identify, and have 
independently verified, potential risks to the business 
operations of the Company.

The risks range from general economic influences, 
through changes in regulatory standards to 
operational failures and cost changes. These risks are 
reviewed and responses updated on a regular basis. 

Summary
The economic downturn has hit several of our major 
UK consumer sectors hard, which subsequently 
impacts upon the UK structural steelwork industry 
at large. Our businesses have remained strong by 
capitalising on our inherent strengths and advantages 
and by moving early to secure strong positions 
across a range of UK sectors and targeting selected 
export markets.

Each of the businesses has contributed excellent 
performances in achieving the record underlying 
financial results and has established outstanding order 
books in the midst of recession.

The Company has invested very successfully in recent 
years to expand the business and improve its relative 
competitiveness on a global basis. The Company’s 
finances are healthy, with strong cash being generated 
in 2008, and minimal debt forecast by the end 
of 2009. 

Whilst the economic recession will influence the 
business, the Company is confident that it will sustain 
a comparatively strong performance in the year and 
that its strategy for the longer term is robust.

UK Projects
Severfi eld–Rowen businesses in the UK have achieved 
further milestones of success with major projects 
undertaken or awarded in 2008, including:

l Staythorpe Power Station
l More London Plot 7 Commercial Offi ce
l Union Square Retail Development, Aberdeen
l 2012 Olympic Stadium
l Birmingham Hospital
l Stratford City Shopping Centre
l One Hyde Park, London
l Heron Tower Commercial Offi ce, London
l Anniesland College, Glasgow
l ExCel Exhibition Centre Extension
l Ropemaker Place Commercial Offi ce, London
l St Botolphs Commercial Offi ce, London
l Regent’s Place Commercial Offi ce, London
l Dublin Airport
l Tesco Store, Oldham
l Glasgow Museum of Transport
l Ikea Store, Dublin
l Heathrow Terminal 5 Phase 2
l Leeds Metropolitan University
l Wimbledon Centre Court Roof
l St Andrews University, Fife
l Tesco Distribution Centre at Teesport
l West Burton Power Station
l The Point Shopping Centre, Dublin
l Riverbank House Commercial Offi ce, London
l National Conference Centre, Dublin
l Data Centres in Hertfordshire and Yorkshire 

It is a mark of respect to the people and capability 
of all the businesses that these projects have been 
won and are being executed effi ciently in line with 
clients’ expectations.

Business Investment
Several investments were made in 2008, adding to 
the signifi cant investments made in all locations in 
recent years.
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WHITE CITY, LONDON
} Severfi eld–Reeve Structures

Situated off Wood Lane, Shepherd’s Bush and close to the BBC 
headquarters, this massive centre is the largest retail development in 
Europe. It contains an atrium for live events, 15 restaurants, parking 
for 2,500 vehicles, 265 shops, a cinema and other leisure facilities.

In excess of 25,000 tonnes of fabricated steel are utilised in this 
project, 5,000 tonnes of which are Fabsec plated beams with bespoke 
service openings.

THE PORTFOLIO
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

I am delighted to announce that, despite the difficult 
economic trading conditions, the Group has had 
another record year with underlying profit before tax 
(before amortisation of acquired intangible assets of 
£9.15 million and movements in losses on derivative 
financial instruments of £0.74 million) of £52.48 
million. Importantly, we also have a good order book 
of £311 million. 

Revenue of £394.33 million and underlying profit 
before tax of £52.48 million have increased 31.15% 
and 22.19% respectively over the figures achieved 
in 2007.

Basic earnings per share, based on the underlying 
profit after tax, increased by 18.07% to 42.20p. The 
Board will be recommending a final dividend of 
10.00p per share resulting in a total dividend for the 
year remaining at the 2007 level of 20.00p per share.

Profit after tax (after underlying items detailed below) 
of £23.98 million (2007: £26.43 million) has been 
transferred to reserves.

We ended the year with net borrowings of £15.76 
million, a significant improvement on the net 
borrowings at the end of 2007 of £48.06 million.

Revenue
Group revenue increased by 31.15% to a record level of 
£394.33 million, assisted by a full year’s results from the 
Fisher Engineering subsidiary, acquired in October 2007. 

Operating Profit
The Group’s underlying operating profit increased by 
29.10% to £55.11 million. We are particularly pleased 
that even in the current economic climate underlying 
operating margins, expressed as a percentage of 
revenue, were at an encouraging level of 13.98% 
compared to 14.20% achieved in 2007. 

“IT IS PARTICULARLY PLEASING THAT THE GROUP’S 
NET DEBT HAS REDUCED SIGNIFICANTLY LEAVING 
IT WITH A SUBSTANTIAL HEADROOM ON ITS 
BORROWING FACILITIES”

Peter Davison 
FINANCE DIRECTOR

These figures continue to incorporate the Group’s two 
associated companies, Kennedy Watts Partnership Ltd 
and Fabsec Ltd, of which the Group owns 25.1% and 
25.0% respectively. The Group’s operating profit for 
the year includes its share of these two companies’ 
results which amounted to a net profit of £128,000 
(2007: £58,000). 

Kennedy Watts is a company involved in CAD/CAM 
steelwork design which the Group uses as an external 
drawing office.

Fabsec Ltd is a company involved in the development 
of the bespoke fire engineered beam made out of 
plate. It holds the master intellectual property rights, 
carrying out marketing and promotion. Fabsec Ltd is 
not directly involved with the Group’s operational plate 
and intumescent paint lines at Dalton which produce 
the Fabsec and fire engineered beams under licence 
from Fabsec Ltd.

Finance Costs
Net finance costs for the Group amounted to 
£2,628,000 (2007: income £266,000). The change 
to a net payable position reflects the borrowings 
that were taken out to fund the acquisition of Fisher 
Engineering during 2007.

Profit Before Tax
The table below provides a summary of the profit 
before tax:

 2008 2007
 £000 £000

Underlying profit before tax —
continuing operations  52,479 42,950
Non-underlying items 
(described below) (9,885) (4,590)
Profit before tax — 
continuing operations 42,594 38,360

The underlying profit before tax has increased to 
£52.48 million, an increase of 22.19% over the 
previous year. Margins, at this level, expressed as a 
percentage of revenue, fell slightly to 13.31% 
(2007: 14.29%), principally reflecting finance costs 
described above.

Non-Underlying Items
Non-underlying items are included within the “Other 
Items” column of the Consolidated Income Statement 
and have reduced profit before tax by £9.89 million 
(2007: £4.59 million). These relate to:

l Amortisation of acquired intangibles in respect of 
the Fisher acquisition — £9.15 million (2007: £2.20 
million). 

l Movements in losses on derivative financial 
instruments — £0.74 million (2007: £2.39 
million). The Group, particularly through Fisher 
Engineering, contracts into the euro zone 
(principally Eire) and fixes the contract profit 
by locking in the exchange rate at the time 
of accepting this work. Each year due to the 
weakening of sterling against the euro between 
the date when the forward exchange contracts 
were put in place during the year and the year 
end a fair value creditor has been accrued in the 
Balance Sheet on these contracts. The loss in 2008 
reflects the increase in the creditor held to £3.59 
million (2007: £2.85 million) in the Balance Sheet.

 
Taxation
The underlying tax charge of £15.09 million 
represents an effective tax rate of 28.74% compared 
with 30.76% in the previous year. The rate is slightly 
higher than the prevailing rate due to the adjustments 
made in respect of disallowable expenditure incurred 
during the year.
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ANNIESLAND COLLEGE, GLASGOW
} Atlas Ward Structures

Situated three miles from Glasgow city centre, Anniesland College is 
redeveloping its Hatfield Campus. To keep the College fully functional, 
the redevelopment is a three phase programme.

The first phase incorporated a new four storey, 3,000 sqm teaching 
block and a two storey, 5,000 sqm workshop. 1,200 tonnes of 
structural steelwork are utilised in these two buildings, 200 tonnes 
of which are Fabsec bespoke plated beams.

THE PORTFOLIO
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The total tax charge for the year was £18.62 million, 
representing an effective tax rate of 43.7% (2007: 
31.1%). This increased rate reflects changes to the 
Industrial Buildings Allowance regime which were 
enacted in 2008. These resulted in the deferred 
tax liability held in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet increasing by £6.3 million in the year with a 
corresponding taxation charge to the Consolidated 
Income Statement.

Accordingly, a charge of £6.3 million has been 
included in the “Other Items” column of the 
Consolidated Income Statement as it reflects a one-off 
significant change in the tax legislation impacting 
the Group. This is offset against the tax credit due in 
respect of the tax on the non-underlying items.

Earnings per Share
Underlying basic earnings per share was at a 
record level of 42.20p, an increase of 18.07% over 
the previous year. This calculation is based on the 
underlying profit after tax of £37.39 million and 
88,607,876 shares, being the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year.

Basic earnings per share, based on profit after tax after 
non-recurring items is 27.06p (2007: 31.77p).

Underlying diluted earnings per share is 42.15p (2007: 
35.70p). This calculation is based on the underlying 
profit after tax of £37.39 million and 88,718,080 
shares, being the weighted average number of shares 
in issue, allowing for contingent shares under a share 
based payments scheme.

Diluted earnings per share, based on profit after tax 
after non-recurring items is 27.02p (2007: 31.73p).

Dividend
The Board will be recommending a final dividend of 
10.00p per share (2007: 13.25p) at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting on 3 June 2009, bringing 
the total dividend for the year to 20.00p per share. 
This total dividend is the same as the total dividend 
per share paid to shareholders for 2007 and is in line 
with the statement made in the Interim Management 
Statement of 17 November 2008.

The final dividend will be paid on 15 June 2009 to 
shareholders on the register on 15 May 2009. The ex 
dividend date will be 13 May 2009.
 

Balance Sheet
The Group’s Balance Sheet continues to strengthen 
with shareholders’ funds increasing by £2.93 million to 
£119.76 million. This equates to a total equity value per 
share at 31 December 2008 of 135.2p, compared with 
131.8p at the end of 2007.

Goodwill on the Balance Sheet is valued at £54.71 
million (2007: £54.71 million) and is made up as 
follows:

l Acquisition of Action Merchants Ltd (Fisher 
Engineering) in 2007 — £47.98 million. The 
goodwill is subject to an annual impairment 
review under IFRS 3. Given the excellent 
performance of Fisher Engineering since 
acquisition, and our expectations, no impairment 
existed at 31 December 2008 or 2007.

l Acquisition of the Atlas Ward Group of 
Companies in 2005 — £6.6 million. The goodwill 
is subject to an annual impairment review under 
IFRS 3. Given the excellent performance of Atlas 
Ward since acquisition, and our expectations, no 
impairment existed at 31 December 2008 
or 2007.

Other intangible assets on the Balance Sheet are 
valued at £30.13 million (2007: £39.04 million) and 
are made up as follows:

a) Intangible Assets Acquired on Acquisition 
£27.65 million (2007: £36.80 million)

 Following the acquisition of the Action Merchants 
Ltd Group (Fisher Engineering) in 2007 a 
valuation of the Group’s identifiable intangible 
assets was carried out to identify and estimate 
the fair value and estimated useful lives of these 
intangible assets as required under IFRS3. These 
assets were valued at £39 million. These assets 
will be amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
varying period of time for each class of asset. The 
amortisation charged in the year was £9.15 million 
(2007: £2.2 million), giving a total amortised at the 
year end of £11.35 million (2007: £2.2 million).

b) Development Costs £2.48 million 
(2007: £2.24 million)

This represents capitalisation of the Group’s costs in 
the development of a pedestal mounted powered 
work platform for use on sites in the erection of steel. 
These costs will be amortised on a straight-line basis 
over 10 years. Amortisation to 31 December 2008 
amounted to £275,000 (2007: £Nil).

The Group now has property, plant and equipment 
totalling £92.91 million. Depreciation charged in 
the year amounted to £5.10 million. During 2008 
we continued to invest in our business to improve 
efficiencies further with capital expenditure being 
£12.1 million principally made up as follows:

l Purchase of land at Dalton and 
Sherburn  £727,000

l Logistical and storage improvements 
at Dalton  £2,951,000

l Building and plant and machinery 
for steel staircase facility at Atlas Ward 
Structures in Sherburn  £1,907,000

l High speed plant and machinery at 
Dalton for Severfield–Reeve Structures  £3,175,000

l Numerous incremental plant and 
machinery items at Fisher Engineering 
in Enniskillen £852,000

l Mobile cranes for use on sites for 
Olympic related work £1,245,000

This expenditure is higher than initially planned for the 
year because of the land purchases and the logistical 
storage and site traffic safety at Dalton, all of which 
further consolidate the Company’s relative efficiency 
advantages.

Expenditure in 2009 is expected to be approximately 
£4 million, with a further £4 million planned to be 
invested into the Indian JV.

Unlike the rest of the Group, Atlas Ward has a defined 
benefit pension scheme which, although closed to 
new members, had an IAS 19 deficit of £6.75 million 
as at 31 December 2007. At 31 December 2008, the 
deficit decreased slightly to £6.65 million and is shown 
as a liability in the Group Balance Sheet. The regular 
triennial actuarial review of the scheme is currently 
being carried out.

FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED
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REGENT’S PLACE, LONDON
} Rowen Structures

Located on a 2.5 acre site on the west side of Regent’s Park, and 
significantly extending a successful 13 acre West End office campus, 
this project includes two commercial office buildings providing 
approximately 39,000 sqm of office space over nine and ten floors.

Approximately 5,300 tonnes are utilised in the projects, 2,000 of which 
are Fabsec plated beams with bespoke service openings. All of the 
steelwork is coated with fire protection intumescent paint.

THE PORTFOLIO
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The provision held in the accounts of £2.6 million 
in respect of an alleged leak to a roof of a contract 
carried out by Atlas Ward Structures Ltd has been 
under regular review by the Directors. Although the 
case has been to adjudication, no real progress was 
made and there was no further indication of the 
likely outcome. Consequently, it was decided that 
the provision should remain in place.

Cash Flow
Management of the Group’s cash has always been 
of prime importance to the Board and this remains 
the case with cash being tightly controlled. During 
2007 a significant amount of borrowings were taken 
out to fund two acquisitions. Consequently the 
Group ended 2007 with net borrowings of £48.06 
million. During 2008 careful cash management 
resulted in net borrowings to be reduced significantly 
to £15.76 million at 31 December 2008. This 
figure was somewhat better than anticipated due 
to approximately £10 million, which was originally 
expected to be receivable in January 2009, being 
received early prior to the year end. The Group has a 
revolving credit facility of £70 million with RBS and 
National Australia Bank as joint lenders until August 
2010. The level of borrowings at 31 December 2008 
leaves the Group very comfortably within the limits 
of its facility.

During the year £84.50 million was generated from 
operations.

Outflows of cash during the year included dividends of 
£20.60 million, corporation tax paid of £18.86 million 
and the purchase of property, plant and equipment, 
net of sale proceeds, of £9.36 million. 
 
The Group ended the year with gearing significantly 
reduced to 13.16% (2007: 41.14%).

Treasury
Group treasury activities are managed and 
controlled centrally. Risks to assets and potential 
liabilities to customers, employees and the public 
continue to be insured. The Group maintains its 
low risk financial management policy by insuring all 
significant trade debtors.

The treasury function seeks to reduce the Group’s 
exposure to any interest rate, foreign exchange 
and other financial risks, to ensure that adequate, 
secure and cost-effective funding arrangements are 
maintained to finance current and planned future 
activities and to invest cash assets safely and profitably.

The Group now has more exposure to exchange 
rate fluctuations, currently between sterling and the 
euro. In order to maintain the projected level of profit 
budgeted on contracts foreign exchange contracts are 
taken out to convert into sterling at the expected date 
of receipt. 

The Group, in view of the current climate, is further 
strengthening its financial controls, cash management 
and appropriate accounting and treasury policies.

Going Concern
In determining whether the Group’s annual 
consolidated financial statements can be prepared 
on a going concern basis, the Directors considered 
all factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and its financial position, including cash 
flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities and the 
risks and uncertainties relating to its business activities. 
These are set out in the Chairman’s Statement, Chief 
Executive’s Review and Financial Review on pages 
08 to 18 and in the Notes to the Consolidated 
financial statements.

The key factors considered by the Directors were as 
follows:

l The order book, which currently stands at 
£311 million;

l The implications of the challenging economic 
environment on the Group’s revenues and profits. 
The Group undertakes forecasts and projections 
of trading and cash flows on a regular basis. 
Whilst this is essential for targeting performance 
and identifying areas of focus for management to 
improve performance and mitigate the possible 
adverse impact of a deteriorating economic 
outlook, they also provide projections of working 
capital requirements;

l The impact of the increasingly competitive 
environment within which the Group operates, 
including pressures on margins and 
counterparty risks;

l The impact on our business of key suppliers being 
unable to meet their obligations to the Group;

l The potential mitigating actions that could be 
taken in the event that revenues are worse than 
expected, to ensure that operating profit and cash 
flows are protected; and

l The committed finance facilities to the Group. 
The Group has access to a £70 million revolving 
credit facility to meet day-to-day working capital 
requirements. The Group at 31 December 2008 
had significant headroom both on this facility and 
on the bank financial covenants in place and this 
position is forecast to continue for the foreseeable 
future. The bank facility is available to August 
2010, with a reasonable expectation that sufficient 
facilities will be made available on renegotiation.

Having considered all the factors impacting the 
Group’s business, including downside sensitivities, 
the Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able 
to operate within the terms and conditions of the 
Group financing facilities for the foreseeable future. 
In addition, the Group does not expect to have to 
refinance or renegotiate its facilities during the next 
12 months.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Company and the Group have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 2008 Annual Report.
 
Summary
Despite the prevailing market conditions, the 
Group has had a very successful year with revenue, 
underlying profit before tax and earnings per share 
once again reaching record levels.

It is particularly pleasing that the Group’s net debt 
has reduced significantly leaving it with a substantial 
headroom on its borrowing facilities. The debt position 
is expected to reduce further during 2009.

The Group has continued to improve its already 
healthy financial position which, together with its good 
order book of £311 million, means it is well placed to 
trade satisfactorily despite the current recession.

Cautionary statement
The Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Review 
and Financial Review on pages 08 to 18 have been 
prepared solely to provide additional information to 
shareholders to assess the Company’s strategies and 
the potential for those strategies to succeed. They 
should not be relied on by any other party or for any 
other purpose.

They contain certain forward-looking statements which 
are made by the Directors in good faith based on the 
information available to them up to the time of their 
approval of this report and such statements should be 
treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, 
including both economic and business risk factors, 
underlying any such forward-looking information.

FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED
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DUBLIN AIRPORT PHASE 2
} Watson Steel Structures

Terminal Two is centrepiece of the programme to transform Dublin 
Airport. As well as creating a vibrant modern airport, the new facilities 
will provide services for up to 35 million passengers per year.

The project consists of almost 12,000 tonnes of fabricated steelwork.

THE PORTFOLIO
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UNDERLYING PROFIT 
BEFORE TAX MARGIN

The margin is the principal measure used by the 
Group to assess the success of its strategy. It is the 
profit before non-underlying items such as the 
amortisation of intangible assets, expressed as a 
percentage of revenue.

A small reduction in 2008 to 13.3% (2007: 14.3%). 
This reduction has been caused primarily by the 
introduction of debt in late 2007 producing a net 
interest payable position in 2008 compared to 
interest receivable in 2007.

UNDERLYING BASIC EARNINGS 
PER SHARE

Underlying basic earnings per share is taken 
as an overall indicator of performance. It is basic 
EPS before the deduction of non-underlying items 
such as the amortisation of intangible assets and 
the Industrial Buildings Allowances tax effect.

Underlying basic EPS increased by 18.1% to 
42.20p (2007: 35.74p). This reflects the increased 
underlying profit in the year for the Group.

NET DEBT Cash is critical for providing the financial 
resources to develop the Group’s businesses 
and to provide adequate working capital 
to function.

Net debt at 31 December 2008 was £15.8 million 
(2007: £48.1 million), a substantial reduction. With a 
£70 million bank borrowing facility this provides the 
Group with significant headroom. The facilities are 
due for renewal in August 2010.

FORWARD ORDER BOOK The order book gives visibility on future activity 
and allows the Group to plan and adapt 
accordingly. It only includes revenue from 
legally committed contracts.

The current order book is £311 million. This 
compares to £300 million at the height of the 
boom in the construction sector in October 2007. It 
represents almost 12 months of activity which, in the 
structural steelwork industry, is very encouraging 
and provides good visibility for the anticipated 
workload in 2009.

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATIO (AFR) The AFR is a key measure of the safe operation 
of our business and is one of a number of health 
and safely measures the Group uses to monitor 
its activities. The AFR is the number of RIDDOR 
accidents to man-hours worked, multiplied 
by 100,000.

The AFR rate for 2008 reduced significantly to 
1.06 (2007: 1.32), reflecting a substantial 
improvement in the Group’s safety record.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

THE GROUP MEASURES SUCCESS THROUGH KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPI’S), SHOWN BELOW. 
THESE SHOULD BE REVIEWED IN THE CONTEXT OF 
MARKET CONDITIONS AND THE INDUSTRY SECTOR IN 
WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES.

KPI COMMENT PERFORMANCE IN 2008
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THE ROCK, BURY
} Severfield-Reeve Structures

The Rock development will consist of new retail, leisure and car 
parking facilities, which will become an extension to the existing high 
street, linking it to the new town square.

The Group are involved in the fabrication and erection of almost 8,000 
tonnes of fabricated steelwork, of which the majority is coated with fire 
protection paint, and also contains a quantity of Fabsec plated beams 
with bespoke service openings.

THE PORTFOLIO
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NATIONAL CONFERENCE CENTRE, DUBLIN
} Fisher Engineering

Occupying a stunning location on the bank of the River Liffey in 
Dublin, the NCC will be a world-class conference centre with 
state-of-the-art facilities. The building will accommodate conferences, 
exhibitions and banqueting for up to 6,000 people.

The project consists of 6,000 tonnes of fabricated structural steelwork. 

THE PORTFOLIO
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DIRECTORS AND ADVISERS

Toby J L Hayward ACA
CHAIRMAN

Toby Hayward (50) was appointed non-
executive Chairman in June 2008. He qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte in 
1984 and became an Investment Banker. He 
was a Director of Corporate Finance at Singer & 
Friedlander Ltd and Henry Ansbacher & Co Ltd 
before working in the Equity Capital Markets 
team at Canaccord Capital Ltd. He joined 
Jefferies International Ltd as Managing Director 
in 2005 with responsibility for UK Corporate 
Broking and left Jefferies in June 2008 to 
concentrate on Consultancy and non-executive 
work.

Peter J Davison BA FCA
FINANCE DIRECTOR

Peter Davison (53) joined the Group in 1988. 
He graduated from Lancaster University in 1977 
and qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 
1980 with KPMG. Prior to joining the Group he 
worked in the construction industry for the John 
E Wiltshier Group, latterly as Chief Accountant 
and Company Secretary of their Scottish 
subsidiary. He was appointed Group Finance 
Director in May 1990.

Tom G Haughey BA
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Tom Haughey (53) joined the Company as 
Group Commercial Director in February 2002. 
He graduated from Strathclyde University in 
1978 and his career until joining the Group was 
within Corus (formerly British Steel) where his 
last position was Commercial Director of Corus 
Construction and Industrial. In November 2005 
Tom was appointed Joint Group Managing 
Director and in July 2007 was appointed Chief 
Executive Officer.

Peter A Emerson
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Peter Emerson (55) has worked for the past 
35 years in the Specialist Contracting Industry, 
initially in the concrete contracting sector. He 
joined Rowen Structures in 1984 as a quantity 
surveyor, rising to Deputy Managing Director in 
1996. Peter was appointed Group Commercial 
Director in April 1998, and in December 2001 
was appointed to the key role of Managing 
Director of Watson Steel Structures Ltd and also 
to Chief Operating Officer In July 2007.

16092SEVERFIE.indd   24 21/04/2009   11:39



25OUR BUSINESS

16092 21/04/09 Proof 7 Back End

25

Secretary and Registered Office

Peter J Davison BA FCA
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate 
Dalton
Thirsk
North Yorkshire 
YO7 3JN

Registered Number
1721262

Registered in England

Auditors

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
1 City Square
Leeds, LS1 2AL

Solicitors

Ashurst LLP
Broadwalk House 
5 Appold Street
London, EC2A 2HA

Irwin Mitchell
21 Queen Street 
Leeds, LS1 2TW

Stockbrokers

RBS Hoare Govett Ltd
250 Bishopsgate
London, EC2M 4AA

Registrars and Transfer Office

Computershare Investor Services PLC
PO Box 82 
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol, BS99 7NP

Advisers

Public Relations

Pelham Public Relations Ltd
12 Arthur Street
London, EC4R 9AB

Bankers

National Australia Bank Ltd
(Yorkshire Bank)
94 Albion Street
Leeds, LS1 6AG

The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC
3rd Floor
2 Whitehall Quay
Leeds, LS1 4HR

Bank of Scotland
Lisbon House
116 Wellington Street
Leeds, LS1 4LT

Northern Bank Ltd
Main Street
Irvinestown
Co Fermanagh, BT94 1GJ

David P Ridley FRICS
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

David Ridley (66) was appointed a non-
executive Director of the Company in June 
2002. He previously held the Chairmanship of 
Faithful and Gould, the quantity surveyor and 
cost management consultants, which forms 
part of the W S Atkins Group of Companies. He 
has a wealth of experience and contacts within 
a number of strategic sectors for the Group, 
including infrastructure and transportation.

Geoff H Wright
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Geoff Wright (66) was appointed as a 
non-executive Director of the Company in 
September 2006. He retired from Hammerson 
plc, where he was Director of Project 
Management and Construction, having worked 
there for 37 years. He is well known in the 
property and construction industries and was 
previously President of the Chartered Institute 
of Building. He is a non-executive Director of 
English Partnerships and BRE Trust.

J Keith Elliott BSc MIChE
SENIOR NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Keith Elliott (66) joined the Company as non-
executive Director in October 1998. He retired 
in July that year from Bechtel, the international 
engineering and construction group, where he 
was a partner in Bechtel Corporation and Senior 
Vice President responsible for its petroleum and 
chemical business. He is a graduate chemical 
engineer and serves as non-executive Chairman 
of Keltbray Group.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Brian W Hick
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Severfield–Reeve Structures

Brian Hick (50) joined the Group in 1989 and 
has had 33 years’ experience in the structural 
steel industry, including 8 years working in 
the Middle East and Africa. He was appointed 
Group Director responsible for international 
operations in 2000 and was also appointed 
Managing Director of Severfield-Reeve 
Structures in July 2007.

Nigel Pickard
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Atlas Ward Structures

Nigel Pickard (44) joined the Group in 
2005 following the acquisition of Atlas Ward 
Structures. He has 28 years’ experience in the 
structural steel industry, working both in the 
UK and overseas markets. In 2000, Nigel was 
appointed Operations Director of Atlas Ward 
where he took full responsibility for production. 
Appointed as Managing Director in October 
2002, Nigel transformed Atlas Ward’s business, 
turning its substantial losses to profit and laid 
the foundations for further development in 
the future.

Ian R S Cochrane
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Fisher Engineering

Ian Cochrane (39) joined the Group in 2007, 
following the acquisition of Fisher Engineering. 
Ian has worked at Fisher Engineering for 
21 years, starting in the drawing office and 
progressing to Project Management. In January 
2004, he was appointed Project Director and 
in October 2007, Managing Director. Ian has 
a comprehensive understanding of all aspects 
of the business and has been involved in 
many major projects in the UK and Ireland, 
representing a range of market sectors.

Derek Randall MBA, DBA
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Derek Randall (47) was appointed Executive 
Director, Business Development in May 2008. 
He is a Master of Business Administration 
(Warwick Business School), a Doctor of Business 
Administration (Nottingham Business School) 
and is the Visiting Professor of International 
Management and Development at Birmingham 
City University’s Business School. Before joining 
the Group, most of his career was with Corus 
Group (the steel company which is part of 
Tata) where his last position was as Commercial 
Director of Long Products Division, responsible 
for a sales portfolio of circa £5 billion. Derek has 
held a number of international Board positions 
with Corus and served on the Executive Council 
of The Steel Construction Institute.

Tom G Haughey BA
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Peter A Emerson
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER and
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Watson Steel Structures

Peter J Davison BA FCA
FINANCE DIRECTOR

Peter F Ellison
GROUP OPERATIONS DIRECTOR
 

Peter Ellison (55), joined the Group in 1993 
as Managing Director of the Group’s in-house 
erection company, Steelcraft Erection Services. 
Peter has spent his working life in the steel 
erection business and since joining Steelcraft, 
Peter has built up a company which is very 
important to the success of the Group, with an 
unrivalled reputation for the efficient and safe 
erection of structural steelwork. In September 
2006 Peter was appointed Group 
Operations Director.
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VICTORIA SQUARE, BELFAST
} Fisher Engineering

Covering a total site area of 14 acres, the Victoria Square Shopping 
Centre, anchored by the largest House of Fraser store in the UK, 
includes an 8 screen cinema, 90 shop units, 17 restaurants, residential 
and leisure space, as well as a 1,000 space underground car park. 

The total project consists of 5,300 tonnes of fabricated steelwork.

THE PORTFOLIO
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their annual report and the 
audited financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2008.

Principal Activity and Business Review
The principal activity of the Group continues to be the 
design, fabrication and erection of structural steelwork, 
specialist claddings and ancillary products.

The subsidiary and associated undertakings principally 
affecting the profits or net assets of the Group in 
the year are listed in notes 13 and 15 to the financial 
statements.

A review of the Group’s progress during the year and 
of its future prospects is contained in the Chairman’s 
Statement on page 8, the Chief Executive’s Review 
on pages 10 to 12, and the Financial Review on 
pages 14 to 18.

The key financial performance indicators of the Group 
are presented and discussed on page 20.

Explanation of the Group’s approach to financial risk 
management is given in the treasury section on 
page 18.

The Group is also subject to competitor risk, operating 
in a competitive market with a focus on ongoing 
innovation and price pressure. To reduce this risk 
we focus resources on ensuring we lead the sector 
in innovation, and continue to invest in appropriate 
developments in technology and other areas. We also 
actively challenge margins when reviewing potential 
orders, and work hard to ensure the sourcing of 
quality labour and materials at the best price available 
— the ongoing Steel UK Limited partnership with 
Murray Metals Group being an excellent example 
of this.

The Group benefits from close commercial 
relationships with a number of key customers 
and suppliers. Damage to or loss of any of these 
relationships could have a direct and detrimental effect 
on the Group’s results. To manage this risk Group 
management continues to invest significant time and 
effort working with these customers and suppliers to 
ensure the Group meets their respective needs, and 
continues to develop strong working relationships.

A review of the Group’s performance in the area 
of health and safety, and its consideration of 
environmental and employment policies, is given in 
the Corporate Social Responsibility section on 
page 36.

Results and Dividends
The profit of the Group for the year after taxation 
amounted to £23,976,000 (2007: £26,434,000), 
details of which are set out in the financial statements 
on page 55.

An interim dividend of 10.00p net per share (2007: 
6.75p) was paid on 24 October 2008. The Directors 
recommend a final dividend for the year of 10.00p net 
per share (2007: 13.25p), payable on 15 June 2009 to 
shareholders on the register on 15 May 2009.

Fixed Assets
Details of changes in the Group’s fixed assets are 
given in notes 10, 11, 12 and 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Branches
The branches of the Group are set out on page 7.

Directors
The present membership of the Board is stated 
on pages 24 and 25. Peter Levine, Peter Ellison, 
Brian Hick, Nigel Pickard, Ian Cochrane and John 
Featherstone resigned as Directors on 30 May 2008. 
Toby Hayward was appointed a Director on 1 June 
2008. All of the other Directors served throughout 
the year. 

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the 
Company are set out on page 49 in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report.

T J L Hayward and D P Ridley will retire at the Annual 
General Meeting in accordance with the Articles of 
Association and will offer themselves for re-election.

J K Elliott (senior independent non-executive Director) 
believes that T J L Hayward and D P Ridley continue to 
be committed to the role of non-executive Directors 
and to show effective performance and consequently 
supports their nomination.

In accordance with the Combined Code issued by the 
London Stock Exchange P A Emerson will also retire at 
the Annual General Meeting and offer himself 
for re-election.

Directors and Officers Liability
Directors and Officers liability insurance has been 
purchased during the year.

Agreements with Employees and Significant 
Agreements
There are no agreements between the Group and its 
Directors or employees providing for compensation for 
loss of office or employment that occurs because of a 
takeover bid.

The Group’s banking arrangements can be terminated 
upon a change of control of the Group.

There are no other significant agreements to which 
the Group is a party that take effect, alter or terminate 
upon a change of control of the Group following a 
takeover bid providing that the Group’s credit rating 
is maintained.
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30 CROWN PLACE, LONDON
} Rowen Structures

Located in the London Borough of Hackney, close to Liverpool Street 
Station, 30 Crown Place is a commercial office building consisting of 
16 storeys plus ground and 2 basement floors, totalling 17,500 sqm.

This landmark tower building incorporates 2,000 tonnes of fabricated 
structural steelwork, including 650 tonnes of Fabsec plated beams with 
bespoke service openings.

THE PORTFOLIO
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Significant Shareholdings
As at 20 April 2009, the Company had been notified 
of the following voting rights to the Company’s 
shares in accordance with the Disclosure Rules and 
Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority:

 2.5p Ordinary shares %

M & G Investment Management 8,265,797 9.33
Artemis Investment Management 7,201,666 8.13
Barclays PLC 6,189,063 6.98
Rathbone Investment Management 6,166,098 6.96
Legal & General Investment
Management 3,609,719 4.07

Share Capital
The Company has a single class of share capital which 
following the share split is now divided into ordinary 
shares of 2.5p each.

Three resolutions are to be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting relating to or 
concerning Share Capital. 

(i)  The Directors are requesting that their authority to 
allot shares be renewed. The maximum amount 
of relevant securities that may be allotted pursuant 
to the authority is £738,399 in nominal value 
(29,535,959 shares) representing approximately 
one-third of the Company’s total share capital in 
issue as at 20 April 2009, being the latest practical 
date prior to the date of the Notice of Meeting. 
The Board has no present intention of exercising 
this authority, which will expire at the end of the 
2010 Annual General Meeting, or on 
2 September 2010, whichever is the earlier. 

(ii)  The Directors’ power to allot equity securities 
conferred by the Special Resolution of the 
Company passed on 30 May 2008 will expire at 
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to 
be held on 3 June 2009, unless otherwise varied, 
revoked or renewed. Your Directors consider 
it desirable that this power, being a limited 
disapplication of pre-emption rights, should be 
renewed at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting, such authority to expire at the end of 
the 2010 Annual General Meeting, or on 
2 September 2010, whichever is the earlier. 
Apart from rights issues, open offers and other 
pre-emptive issues, the aggregate nominal value 
of new shares for which power is being sought 
is not to exceed £110,760 (4,430,394 shares) 
representing 5% of the Company’s issued share 
capital. The Directors have no present intention of 
exercising this power but should any exercise be 
contemplated in the future they will have regard 
to the Investor Protection Committee guidelines.

(iii)  The Directors are requesting that at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting they are 
given the authority to buy, by way of market 
purchases, up to 10% of the issued share capital 
of the Company representing a maximum of 
8,860,788 shares. The price to be paid will be 
no lower than 2.5p per share and no more than 
5% above the average of the middle market 
quotations (as derived from the London Stock 
Exchange Daily Official List) for the five business 
days preceding the day on which the shares are 
purchased. Purchases would not be made in the 
close period preceding the announcement of the 
Company’s interim or final results. This proposal 
does not indicate that the Company will purchase 
shares at any particular time or price, or imply 
any opinion on the part of the Directors as to the 
market or other value of the Company’s shares. 
This authority will expire at the end of the 
2010 Annual General Meeting, or on 
2 September 2010, whichever is the earlier. It is 
the present intention of the Directors to seek a 
similar authority annually. The Directors have no 
present intention of exercising this authority and 
will only do so at price levels which they consider 
to be in the interests of shareholders after taking 
account of the Group’s overall financial position, 
and which would lead to a beneficial impact on 
the earnings per share of the Company.

Rights Attaching to Shares
The rights attaching to the ordinary shares are defined 
in the Company’s Articles of Association. The Articles 
of Association may be changed with the agreement 
of shareholders. A shareholder whose name appears 
on the Company’s Register of members can choose 
whether his shares are evidenced by share certificates 
(i.e. in certificated form) or held in electronic (i.e. 
uncertificated) form in CREST (the electronic settlement 
system in the UK).

Subject to any restrictions below, shareholders 
may attend any general meeting of the Company 
and, on a show of hands, every shareholder (or his 
representative) who is present at a general meeting 
has one vote on each resolution and, on a poll, every 
shareholder (or his representative) who is present 
has one vote on each resolution for every ordinary 
share of which they are the registered shareholder. 
A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting is 
decided on a show of hands unless before, or on the 
declaration of the result of, a vote on a show of hands, 
a poll is demanded by the chairman of the meeting, or 
by at least two shareholders (or their representatives) 
present in person and having the right to vote, or by 
any shareholders (or their representatives) present in 
person having at least 10% of the total voting rights 
of all shareholders, or by any shareholders (or their 
representatives) present in person holding ordinary 
shares in which an aggregate sum has been paid up 
of at least one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all 
ordinary shares.

Shareholders can declare final dividends by passing an 
ordinary resolution but the amount of the dividends 
cannot exceed the amount recommended by the 
Board. The Board can pay interim dividends on any 
class of shares of the amounts and on the dates and 
for the periods they decide the distributable profits of 
the Company justify such payment.

Any dividend which has not been claimed for twelve 
years after it became due for payment will be forfeited 
and will then belong to the Company, unless the 
Directors decide otherwise.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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LAKESIDE ENERGY FROM WASTE PLANT, 
LONDON
} Watson Steel Structures

Located at Colnbrook, near Heathrow Airport, this state-of-the-art 
energy from waste plant has the capacity to process 40,000 tonnes 
of waste per year and is capable of producing a power generation of 
34 megawatts per hour.

The complex steel frame consists of 2,000 tonnes of fabricated 
steelwork.

THE PORTFOLIO
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If the Company is wound up, the liquidator can, with 
the sanction of an extraordinary resolution passed by 
the shareholders, divide among the shareholders all 
or any part of the assets of the Company and he can 
value any assets and determine how the division shall 
be carried out as between the members or different 
classes of members. The liquidator can also transfer the 
whole or any part of the assets to trustees upon any 
trusts for the benefit of the members. No shareholders 
can be compelled to accept any asset which would 
give them a liability.

Details of share-based payment schemes are set out 
in note 23.

Voting at General Meetings
Any form of proxy sent by the Company to 
shareholders in relation to any general meeting must 
be delivered to the Company, whether in written 
form or in electronic form, not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for holding the meeting or 
adjourned meeting at which the person named in the 
appointment proposes to vote.

No shareholder is, unless the Board decides otherwise, 
entitled to attend or vote either personally or by proxy 
at a general meeting or to exercise any other right 
conferred by being a shareholder if he or any person 
with an interest in shares has been sent a notice 
under section 793 of the Companies Act 2007 (which 
confers upon public companies the power to require 
information with respect to interests in their voting 
shares) and he or any interested person failed to 
supply the Company with the information requested 
within 14 days after delivery of that notice. The Board 
may also decide that no dividend is payable in respect 
of those default shares and that no transfer of any 
default shares shall be registered.

These restrictions end seven days after receipt by the 
Company of a notice of an approved transfer of the 
shares or all the information required by the relevant 
section 793 notice, whichever is the earlier.

Transfer of Shares
The Board may refuse to register a transfer of a 
certificated share which is not fully paid, provided that 
the refusal does not prevent dealings in shares in the 
Company from taking place on an open and proper 
basis. The Board may also refuse to register a transfer 
of a certificated share unless: (i) the instrument of 
transfer is lodged, duly stamped (if stampable), at the 
registered office of the Company or any other place 
decided by the Board, accompanied by a certificate for 
the share which it relates and such other evidence as 
the Board may reasonably require to show the right 
of the transferor to make the transfer; (ii) is in respect 
of only one class of shares; and (iii) is in favour of not 
more than four transferees.

Transfer of uncertificated shares must be carried out 
using CREST and the Board can refuse to register a 
transfer of an uncertificated share in accordance with 
the regulations governing the operation of CREST.
The Board may decide to suspend the registration 
of transfers, for up to 30 days a year, by closing the 
Register of shareholders. The Board cannot suspend 
the registration of transfers of any uncertificated shares 
without gaining consent from CREST. 

There are no other limitations on the holding of 
ordinary shares in the Company.

Variation of Rights
If at any time the capital of the Company is divided 
into different classes of shares, the special rights 
attaching to any class may be varied or revoked either:

(i) with the written consent of the holders of at least 
75% in nominal value of the issued shares of the 
class; or

(ii) with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution 
passed at a separate general meeting of the 
holders of the shares of the class.

The Company can issue new shares and attach any 
rights to them. If there is no restriction by special 
rights attaching to existing shares, rights attaching to 
new shares can take priority over the rights of existing 
shares, or the new shares and the existing shares are 
deemed to be varied (unless the rights expressly allow 
it) by a reduction of paid up capital or if another share 
of that same class is issued and ranks in priority for 
payment of dividend or in respect of capital or more 
favourable voting rights.

CREST
The Company’s ordinary shares are in CREST, the 
settlement system for stocks and shares.

Creditor Payment Policy
The Group’s current policy concerning the payment 
of its trade creditors is to agree terms and conditions 
for its transactions with suppliers and to abide by 
those terms, subject to those terms and conditions 
being met by the supplier. At 31 December 2008 
trade creditors of the Group represented 50 days of 
purchases (2007: 51 days). 

Charitable and Political Contributions
During the year the Group made charitable donations 
of £185,000 (2007: £106,000), principally to local 
charities serving the communities in which the Group 
operates.

No contributions were made to any political parties 
during the current or preceding year.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual 
report and the financial statements. The Directors 
are required to prepare accounts for the Group in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and have chosen to prepare the 
Company financial statements in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (“UK GAAP”).

In the case of UK GAAP accounts for the Company, 
the Directors are required to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. In 
preparing these financial statements, the Directors 
are required to:

l select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently

l make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

l state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been followed

In the case of IFRS accounts for the Group, 
International Accounting Standard 1 requires 
that financial statements present fairly for each 
financial year the Group’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows. This requires the 
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, 
other events and conditions in accordance with the 
definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses set out in the International 
Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the 
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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5 ALDERMANBURY SQUARE, LONDON 
} Severfield–Reeve Structures

Located on the western side of Aldermanbury Square, at the junction 
of Wood Street and London Wall, this office building consists of ground 
and 18 floors, covering more than 24,000 sqm. 

Architects, Eric Parry, won both the national and regional awards in 
the Commercial Workplace category at the British Council for Office’s 
2008 awards ceremony, for this “bold and brave but also incredibly 
elegant” building.

The project utilised a total of 2,400 tonnes of fabricated steelwork, 
of which 1,000 tonnes were Fabsec plated beams with bespoke 
service openings. 90% of the steel was coated with intumescent 
fire protection paint.

THE PORTFOLIO
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In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation 
will be achieved by compliance with all applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards. Directors 
are also required to:

l properly select and apply accounting policies

l present information, including accounting policies, 
in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information

l provide additional disclosures when compliance 
with the specific requirements in IFRS is 
insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events and 
conditions on the entity’s financial position and 
financial performance

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company, for safeguarding the assets, for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities and for the 
preparation of a report of the Directors and the 
Directors’ remuneration report which comply with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 1985.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Company website. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements differs from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge:
1. the financial statements, prepared in accordance 

with the applicable set of accounting standards, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit and loss of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole; and

2. the Business Review, which is incorporated into 
the Directors’ Report, includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business 
and the position of the Company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties they face. 

Going Concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have formed 
a judgement at the time of approving the financial 
statements that there is a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason the Directors continue to adopt a going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The key factors considered by the Directors in making 
the statement are set out on page 18 of the 
Financial Review

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

Auditors
Each Director, at the date of approval of this 
Annual Report, confirms that:

l so far as the Director is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

l the Director has taken all the steps that he 
ought to have taken as a Director in order 
to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that 
the Company’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

This confirmation is given, and should be 
interpreted, in accordance with the provisions of 
S234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.

On 1 December 2008, Deloitte & Touche LLP 
changed its name to Deloitte LLP.

Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness to 
continue in office as auditors and a resolution to 
reappoint it will be proposed at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Notice concerning the Annual General 
Meeting to be held at Aldwark Manor, Aldwark, 
near Alne, York YO61 1UF at noon on Wednesday 
3 June 2009, together with explanatory notes on 
the resolutions to be proposed and full details 
of the deadlines for exercising voting rights, is 
contained in a circular to be sent to shareholders 
with this report

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed 
on behalf of the Board.

Peter Davison
Secretary
27 April 2009
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate, 
Dalton, Thirsk, North Yorkshire, YO7 3JN

16092SEVERFIE.indd   34 21/04/2009   11:39



35OUR BUSINESS

16092 21/04/09 Proof 7 Back End

35

RIVERSIDE MUSEUM, GLASGOW 
} Watson Steel Structures

Riverside will be a landmark, 21st Century Transport Museum.  Its 
location is on a site where the Clyde meets with Glasgow’s other main 
river, the Kelvin, adjacent to Glasgow Harbour. The Museum will secure 
the future of Glasgow’s globally renowned transport collections.

The stunning design, by much-acclaimed architect Zaha Hadid, will 
incorporate 2,600 tonnes of fabricated structural steelwork.

THE PORTFOLIO
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
 The Group is committed to continuous improvement 
in its Corporate Social Responsibility activities.

In accordance with the ABI reporting guidelines the 
Board takes regular account of the significance of 
social, environmental, ethical and health and safety 
matters to the business of the Group. There is in 
place a comprehensive risk management and internal 
control process which identifies and assesses the 
significant risks to the Group’s short and long-term 
value arising from such matters.

The Board recognises its Corporate Social 
Responsibilities to its shareholders, customers and 
suppliers and is committed to good practice in all its 
activities.

Environment
The Group is committed to minimising the impact 
of its business and its processes on the natural 
environment and the community at large by 
complying with all laws, directives and regulations 
pertaining to its field of operations.

It works with the local authorities to ensure it complies 
with all permits and authorisations required to carry 
out its operations.

All operational companies within the Group have now 
been awarded the Steel Construction Sustainability 
Charter. This is a milestone achievement and goes 
towards the Group’s ambition to generate an efficient 
sustainable business model.

All companies in the Group make financial or 
supportive contributions to local community activities 
and participate in local charitable fund raisings. 
Participation in business communities e.g. Yorkshire 
Forward, is important to the business and the local 
environment.

Health and Safety
The Board is committed to high standards of health 
and safety for all of its employees.

The Group has established a fully functional health 
and safety department which has full responsibility 
throughout the Group for developing and maintaining 
a positive health and safety culture for all aspects of 
the Group’s operations. Each operating subsidiary has 
a health and safety Director who reports to the main 
Board via monthly Health and Safety meetings.

The Group operates in a particularly risky working 
environment and the Board is proud of its good safety 
record. Despite this, the Board will continue to try and 
improve both health and safety awareness and its 
safety record throughout the Group.

The Group has focused on gaining accreditation for 
its Safety, Health and Environmental System and has 
achieved certification to OHSAS 18001 and BS EN 
ISO 14001.

Further site development for improved logistics 
and enhanced product output were implemented 
throughout the year. In addition, there has been the 
development and deployment of innovative accident 
prevention systems for materials handling and 
operator access during steel erection.

Employees
Severfield–Rowen aims to attract, retain and motivate 
the highest calibre of employees and encourages their 
development and initiative.

Employees are regularly informed of matters 
concerning the performance and future developments 
of the Group.

The Board takes account of employees’ interests when 
making decisions and suggestions from employees 
aimed at improving the Group’s performance are 
welcomed.

The Group’s policy is to provide equal opportunities 
to all existing and prospective employees. The Group’s 
reputation is dependent on the quality, effectiveness 
and skill base of its employees and is committed to the 
fair and equitable treatment of all its employees and 
specifically to prohibit discrimination on the grounds of 
race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, age, nationality or 
ethnic origin.

The Group has also continued with its established 
policy of employing disabled persons where 
practicable and endeavours to ensure that they benefit 
from training and career opportunities in common 
with all employees. In the event that employees 
become disabled every effort is made to ensure that 
their employment with the Group continues and that 
appropriate training is arranged.

The Board considers training of employees to be very 
important and consequently has established a training 
department to operate this particular function.

This department is manned by experienced training 
officers whose prime purpose is to provide adequate 
training to new employees and to update all 
employees with the continuing changes in legislation 
regarding training and health and safety.
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37

BIRMINGHAM HOSPITAL
} Severfi eld–Reeve Structures

Birmingham’s new 1,200 bed super hospital is being built on the 
50 acre site of the old Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Edgbaston and 
will become part of the largest healthcare facility in the UK outside 
of London.

Covering some 170,000 sqm, the hospital consumed more than 
10,000 tonnes of structural steelwork, including approximately 700 
tonnes of Fabsec plated beams with bespoke service openings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 The Board is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance. It is accountable to the Company’s 
shareholders for good corporate governance.

This statement together with the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 51 describe 
how the principles of good governance, as set out in 
Section 1 of the FRC Combined Code updated in June 
2006 by the London Stock Exchange, are applied to 
the Company and the Company’s compliance with the 
code provisions. The principles of good governance 
are split into the following areas: Directors, Directors’ 
remuneration, accountability and audit, and relations 
with shareholders.

A. Directors
The Board
The Company is controlled through the Board of 
Directors which comprises three executive and four 
non-executive Directors, all of which, are considered 
as independent.

T J L Hayward is the non-executive Chairman and was 
appointed on 1 June 2008.

The Board has a separate Chairman and chief 
executive in line with the Code provision A2. The 
Chairman is mainly responsible for the running of the 
Board, evaluating its performance and ensuring that 
all Directors receive sufficient relevant information 
on financial, business and corporate issues prior to 
meetings. The chief executive’s responsibilities focus on 
co-ordinating the Company’s business and assessing 
and implementing Group strategy.

J K Elliott is the senior independent non-executive 
Director and leads the performance review of the 
Chairman, taking into account the views of the 
executive Directors.

All Directors are able to take independent professional 
advice in furtherance of their duties if necessary.

The Board considers that the balance of relevant 
experience amongst the various Board members 
enables the Board to exercise effective leadership 
and control of the Group. It also ensures that the 
decision making process cannot be dominated by any 
individual or small group of individuals. 

During 2008 the Board was restructured. P M Levine 
and J R Featherstone resigned as non-executive 
Chairman and non-executive Director respectively. 
T J L Hayward was appointed non-executive Chairman, 
P F Ellison, B W Hick, N Pickard and I R S Cochrane 
resigned as executive Directors of the Board to 
take up positions as members of the new Executive 
Management Committee. This Committee assists the 
main Board by focusing on strategic and operational 
performance matters relating to the business and 
meets formerly on a monthly basis.

Board Effectiveness
The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for it. It is responsible for overall Group strategy, 
acquisition and divestment policy, approval of major 
capital expenditure projects and consideration of 
significant financing matters.

It monitors the exposure to key business risks 
including environmental and health and safety issues. 
It reviews the strategic direction of individual trading 
subsidiaries, codes of conduct, annual budgets, 
progress towards achievement of those budgets and 
capital expenditure programmes. The Board also 
considers employee issues and key appointments. 
It also ensures that all Directors receive appropriate 
training on appointment and then subsequently 
as appropriate. Other specific responsibilities are 
delegated to the Board Committees described 
below. All Directors, in accordance with the Code, 
will submit themselves for re-election at least once 
every three years. The performance of individual 
Directors is evaluated annually in conjunction with the 
remuneration review.

The Board generally meets monthly and during 
the year met ten times. A formal agenda for each 
meeting is agreed with the Chairman and is circulated 
in advance of the meeting to allow time for proper 
consideration, together with relevant papers including 
key strategic, operational and financial information.
Attendance of individual Directors during 2008 at 
scheduled Board Meetings and at meetings of the 
Remuneration and Audit Committees is set out below.

Non-attendance by Directors at meetings was due 
to conflicting commitments and in each case was 
previously agreed. The majority of the Board meetings 
are held at the Group’s Head Office in Dalton, North 
Yorkshire. However, during the year three of the 
meetings were held at the offices of the Group’s 
other operating subsidiaries providing non-executive 
Directors the opportunity to increase their knowledge 
and understanding of the Group’s operations.

  Remuneration Audit
 Board Committee Committee

Total number of 
meetings held 10 7 3
T J L Hayward 1 5 2 1
T G Haughey 10 — —
P A Emerson 10 — —
P J Davison 10 — —
J K Elliott 10 7 3
D P Ridley 10 7 3
G H Wright 9 7 3
P M Levine 2 3 — —
P F Ellison 2 5 — —
B W Hick 2 5 — —
N Pickard 2 4 — —
I R S Cochrane 2 4 — —
J R Featherstone 2 4 5 2

1 Full attendance at meetings following appointment
2 Five meetings of Board and Remuneration 
Committee plus two Audit Committee held prior 
to resignations and restructuring 

Board Committees
The Board has established four standing committees, 
all of which operate within defined terms of reference.

The committees established are the Audit Committee, 
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the Health and Safety Committee. 
Trading companies are managed by separate Boards 
of Directors. Any matters of a material nature 
concerning the trading companies are reported to the 
Group Board of Directors on a monthly basis.

With the change in the executive management and 
chairmanship in 2008 plus the attendant Board 
restructuring, the new Board considered it important 
to retain a level of continuity in the Boardroom and 
asked Keith Elliott to continue in his role as Senior 
non-executive Director for the immediate future 
notwithstanding that 2008 was his 10th year as a 
serving Director. He will continue his Chairmanship 
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee. The Board acknowledges that he could 
be considered non independent due to tenure but 
believes that he continues to act independently and 
recognises his high level of commitment and effective 
contribution to the Board’s decision making process.
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ASPIRE, UNIVERSITY OF NOTTINGHAM 
} Watson Steel Structures

Located on the University’s Jubilee Campus, Aspire is 60 m high, 
measures 4.8 m wide at the top (its widest point), 2.19 m at its base 
and weighs 854 tonnes.

The name was chosen following a competition amongst the 
University’s 6,500 staff and 37,000 students. The name represents 
aspiration, achievement and ambition and refl ects the activities of the 
University of Nottingham and the aims of the city of Nottingham.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises the non-executive 
Directors and is chaired by J K Elliott. The Board 
is satisfied that at least one member of the Audit 
Committee has relevant financial experience. The 
Committee has written terms of reference which will 
be available for inspection at the Annual General 
Meeting. Meetings are held not less than twice a year 
and additional meetings may be requested by the 
auditors.

The responsibility of the Audit Committee principally 
falls into four areas:

l To monitor the integrity of the financial statements, 
formal announcements and to review significant 
financial reporting judgements.

l To review the Company’s internal financial 
controls.

l To make recommendations to the Board in 
relation to the appointment and removal of 
the external auditors and to approve their 
remuneration and their terms of engagement. It 
also reviews and monitors the external auditors’ 
independence, objectivity and effectiveness during 
the audit process, taking into account relevant UK 
professional regulatory requirements. This review 
includes consideration of the auditors’ period in 
office, their compensation and scope, quality and 
cost-effectiveness of their work.

l To consider the need for an internal audit function. 
The Committee agrees with the Directors’ opinion 
that the Group is not of sufficient size and 
complexity to require the need for an internal 
audit function.

It also includes a review of the nature of non-audit 
services supplied and non-audit fee levels relative to 
the audit fee. The Committee recognises that, given 
their knowledge of the business, there are often 
advantages in using the auditors to provide certain 
non-audit services. The Committee is satisfied that the 
independence of the auditors has not been impaired 
by providing these services. Details of the auditors’ 
fees are shown in note 4 on page 64. 

On invitation, the Finance Director, other executive 
Directors, Executive Committee members and the 
auditors attend meetings to assist the Committee 
to fulfil its duties. The Committees can access 
independent professional advice if it considers it 
necessary.

The Committee met on three occasions in 2008 with 
full attendance.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under written 
terms of reference. The Committee comprises the non-
executive Directors, and is chaired by J K Elliott. The 
Committee’s report is set out on pages 44 to 51.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises the non-
executive Directors and is chaired by G H Wright. The 
principal task of the Committee is to deal with key 
appointments to the Board, and related employment 
matters.

The Committee is responsible for proposing candidates 
for appointment to the Board, having regard to the 
balance and structure of the Board, and will meet as 
and when required. 

The Committee met on two occasions during 2008 
to discuss the appointment of T J L Hayward as non-
executive Chairman.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee 
will be available for inspection at the Annual General 
Meeting. 

All Directors are required to seek re-election by the 
members at the Annual General Meeting following 
their appointment. Non-executive Directors are not 
appointed for a fixed term.

The terms and conditions of appointment of non-
executive Directors will be available for inspection at 
the Annual General Meeting.

B. Directors’ Remuneration
The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on 
pages 44 to 51 of the financial statements.

C. Accountability and Audit
Financial Reporting
The performance and financial position of the 
Company are provided in the Chief Executive’s Review 
on pages 10 to 12 and the Financial Review on pages 
14 to 18, together with the Chairman’s Statement on 
page 8 and the Directors’ Report on pages 28 to 34. 

These enable the Board to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Company’s position 
and prospects. The Directors’ responsibilities for the 
financial statements are described in the Directors’ 
Report on pages 32 and 34.

Internal Control
The Board has applied Principle C.2 of the Combined 
Code and an ongoing process has been established 
for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group, which involves 
working closely with independent risk management 
consultants. This process has been in place for the full 
financial year and up to the date of the approval of 
these financial statements and is regularly reviewed 
by the Board. This process is in accordance with the 
guidance provided by the Turnbull Report.

The Board has formally acknowledged its overall 
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of internal 
control. It believes that senior management within the 
Group’s operating businesses should also contribute 
in a substantial way and this has been built into the 
process.

There are inherent limitations in any system of internal 
control and, accordingly, even the most effective 
system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 
assurance with respect to the preparation of financial 
information and the safeguarding of assets. The system 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives.

In carrying out its review of the effectiveness of 
internal control in the Group the Board has taken into 
consideration the following key features of the risk 
management process and system of internal control:

l Senior management from all key disciplines 
and subsidiary companies within the Group are 
involved in the process of risk assessment in order 
to identify and assess Group objectives, key issues 
and controls. A further review has been performed 
to identify those risks relevant to the Group 
as a whole. This assessment encompassed all 
aspects of risk including operational, compliance, 
financial and strategic. A risk register is in place 
and is updated on an ongoing basis and a control 
strategy has been determined for each of the 
significant risks.

l The risk management committee, chaired by 
T G Haughey, has the primary responsibility to 
identify, monitor and control the significant risks 
to an acceptable level throughout the Group. The 
committee receives information on relevant risk 
matters from line management and other sources 
on a regular basis. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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G PARK, BLUE PLANET, 
NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME 
} Atlas Ward Structures

This pioneering sustainable development project, named 
Blue Planet Chatterley Valley, is situated on 31 acres of land 
at Newcastle-under-Lyme.

The building, covering almost 10,000 sqm, comprises a warehouse 
and office accommodation and consists of almost 2,000 tonnes of 
structural steelwork.
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l The Group operates a comprehensive budgeting 
and financial reporting system which, as a 
matter of routine, compares actual results with 
budgets. Management accounts are prepared 
for each subsidiary company and the Group on 
a monthly basis. Material variances from budget 
are thoroughly investigated. In addition, a more 
detailed profitability forecast based on actual 
contracts secured is regularly prepared to monitor 
the performance of the main operating company 
of the Group as the year progresses.

l A credit insurance committee comprising 
T G Haughey, P A Emerson and P J Davison 
has been established to review matters when 
adequate credit insurance on the Group’s 
customers cannot be purchased in the present 
economic climate.

Cash flow forecasts are regularly prepared to ensure 
that the Group has adequate funds and resources for 
the foreseeable future. 

Standard financial control procedures operate 
throughout the Group to ensure the integrity of the 
Group’s financial statements.

Formal arrangements are in place by which staff of the 
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting 
or other matters.

Risks are identified and appraised through the annual 
process of preparing these budgets.

The Board approves the Group’s annual budget.

l Subsidiary company meetings consider and report 
on risk on a monthly basis as part of the monthly 
business review process. This process is followed 
to ensure that, as far as possible, the controls 
and safeguards are being operated in line with 
established procedures and standards.

l Safety, Health and Environmental risks are 
continually monitored at all sites and are reviewed 
on a monthly basis by senior management and 
on a quarterly basis by the Health and Safety 
Committee. 

Steps have been taken to embed internal control and 
risk management into the operations of the business 
and to deal with areas of improvement which come to 
management’s and the Board’s attention. This process 
is continuing to increase risk awareness throughout 
the Group.

D. Relations with Shareholders
The Company encourages two-way communication 
with both its institutional and private investors and 
attempts to respond quickly to all queries received 
verbally or in writing.

T J L Hayward, T G Haughey, P A Emerson and 
P J Davison attended several meetings with analysts, 
institutional shareholders and retail investors in the 
year ended 31 December 2008, either at the time of 
the announcements of the Company’s interim or final 
results or during visits to the Company’s offices in 
North Yorkshire.

Feedback from these meetings is reported to 
the Board.

Extensive discussions took place during the year 
between shareholders’ representatives and J K Elliott, 
the senior independent non-executive Director, with 
particular reference to the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report

The Board has sought to use the Annual General 
Meeting to communicate with private investors and 
encourages their participation.

Compliance Statement
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2008 the 
Company has been in compliance with the Code 
provisions set out in Section 1 of the FRC 2006 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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BRIDGE ACADEMY, LONDON
} Watson Steel Structures

This six storey horseshoe-shaped educational facility based in Hackney 
includes a 450 seat performance theatre and dance studio, as well as 
an outdoor amphitheatre, which is built above the ground floor car 
park. A separate sports hall, of which half its depth is below ground, 
incorporates a sports pitch on its roof.

The project incorporates 1,100 tonnes of fabricated steelwork.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and 
Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985. It also meets 
the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority and describes how the 
Board has applied the Principles of Good Governance 
relating to Directors’ remuneration. As required by 
the regulations, a resolution to approve the report will 
be proposed at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company at which time the financial statements will 
be approved. 

The regulations require the auditors to report to the 
Company’s members on the “auditable part” of the 
Directors Remuneration Report and to state whether 
in their opinion that part of the report has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985 (as amended by the Regulations). The report 
has therefore been divided into separate sections for 
audited and unaudited information.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION
Remuneration Committee
The Company has an established Remuneration 
Committee which is constituted in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Combined Code. The 
Committee comprises four non-executive Directors, 
J K Elliott, T J L Hayward, D P Ridley and G H Wright, 
and is chaired by J K Elliott. This committee was 
formed in July 2008 after the restructuring of the 
Board of Directors. At the end of May 2008, Peter 
Levine stepped down as non-executive Chairman 
and was succeeded by Toby Hayward. At the same 
time our longest-standing non-executive Director, 
John Featherstone, also stepped down. Toby Hayward, 
who is a chartered accountant with a background in 
investment banking, assumed John’s position at the 
Remuneration Committee table.

It should be noted that along with the change of 
Chairmanship in mid-2008, the Board of Directors 
was reduced from a 12 man Board to a 7 man 
Board comprising a non-executive Chairman, a chief 
executive and two other executive Directors and a 
senior non-executive Director and two other non-
executives: a balanced Board. All other previously main 
Board Directors were assigned as divisional Directors 
of subsidiary companies or of Group functions. 
Notwithstanding the devolution of these Directors 
from the main Board, the entire Group comprising 

main Board Directors and divisional Directors has 
been retained within the purview of the Remuneration 
Committee with regard to salaries, bonuses, awards 
under LTIP programmes and the setting of attendant 
performance conditions. Accordingly, the statements 
made herein regarding remuneration policy apply 
equally to the divisional Directors and to the three 
executive Directors who sit on the main Board.

The Remuneration Committee received external 
advice during 2008 from Hewitt New Bridge Street 
who provided no other services to the Company.

The Committee met on seven occasions during the 
year with full attendance. Two of the meetings took 
place after June when both the Main Board and the 
Remuneration Committee were restructured. 
 
No Director plays a part in any discussion about his 
own remuneration.

The terms of reference for the Remuneration 
Committee are available from the Company Secretary.

Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is to ensure that 
the remuneration packages offered are competitive 
and designed to attract, retain and motivate executive 
Directors of the right calibre. Moreover, remuneration 
policy is designed to align closely the remuneration 
of the Directors with the goals of the Company and 
its shareholders. Growth in executive remuneration 
is weighted to match growth in Group profitability, 
complexity of the role and contribution to shareholder 
value creation. We set out below in more detail the 
specifics of how we plan to implement these policies 
in the context of the conclusion of a record year in 
2008 but at the start of an uncertain period in 2009 
and 2010.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors is 
considered by the executive Directors and reflects the 
time that they commit to the Company. Non-executive 
Directors cannot participate in any of the Company’s 
share option schemes, the Share Matching Plan or the 
Performance Share Plan and are not eligible to join the 
Company’s pension scheme.

The major elements of the remuneration package for 
the executive Directors are:
l Basic annual salary and benefits
l Annual bonus payments
l Performance Share Plan (PSP)
l Pension
 

It is not intended to grant further awards under 
previous legacy plans including the Share Matching 
Plan (SMP) the share option scheme or the deferred 
bonus plan.

2008 was another transition year for the Company 
in many respects. Results in the previous year, 2007, 
had achieved a new record with both revenue and 
profit sustaining continued growth. Underlying pre-tax 
profit in 2007 exceeded that in 2006 by 42%. Growth 
continued in 2008 in the same vein with profit up a 
further 21% above 2007 and more than 20% ahead 
of budget. The acquisition of Fisher Engineering 
in October 2007 reaped benefits with strong 
contributions to the Group throughout 2008. The 
restructuring of the Board of Directors mid 2008 took 
place seamlessly with attendant continued growth. 

Basic Salary
The level of basic annual salary and benefits is 
determined by the Committee taking into account the 
performance of the individual and information from 
independent sources on salary levels for similar jobs 
in comparable companies. The comparator companies 
are chosen having regard to size, industry sector and 
the relative complexity of the business. In addition, pay 
settlements in UK businesses generally are taken into 
account.

Rigorous remuneration comparator surveys have 
been performed in recent years with the assistance of 
the executive compensation consultants, Hewitt New 
Bridge Street, who have undertaken all our recent 
surveys and assisted the Company with the design 
of executive compensation plans. The surveys are 
updated as appropriate in changing market conditions 
and taking into account other relevant external factors. 

Current annual base salaries for the executive Directors 
date back to mid-2007 when Tom Haughey took over 
as CEO. Contemporaneously the new position of Chief 
Operating Officer was created and Peter Emerson 
was appointed to that position. Peter Davison retained 
his position as Financial Director. Base salaries were 
established for each of them in July 2007 following 
our normal approach involving assessment against 
prevailing rates, through our comparator survey data 
available and assessment of the value of individual 
contribution to Company performance. The new 
salaries were disclosed in our circular to shareholders 
in advance of an EGM on 5 October 2007 attendant 
with an agenda item for that EGM — replacing the 
SMP with the PSP.
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BBC NOW, CARDIFF 
} Fisher Engineering

Home to the BBC National Orchestra of Wales, this purpose-built 
venue at the Wales Millennium Centre in Cardiff has been named 
BBC Hoddinott Hall, after Welsh composer Alun Hoddinott, who died 
in 2008.

600 tonnes of fabricated structural steelwork is utilised in the project.
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At the start of 2008 all executive Directors were 
awarded a 3% inflation-based increment to base 
salaries. This was consistent with our policy to 
continue to weight compensation from fixed short-
term to longer-term performance-based rewards. 
The Remuneration Committee and the executive 
management are aligned in adopting a prudent and 
consistent policy to freeze all Directors’ salaries and 
wages at 2008 levels in 2009 in the light of prevailing 
global economic conditions. 

Annual Bonus Payments
Policy
Annual bonus awards to executive Directors are 
governed by the bonus plan introduced in 2003. 
Under this plan bonus awards correlate to profit before 
tax achieved in the year. The plan contains both a 
lower profit threshold below which no bonuses are 
payable and a maximum bonus limit as a percentage 
of the individual’s base salary. 

With the creation of the COO position in mid-2007 
the Remuneration Committee established intermediate 
thresholds for that position between those for the 
CEO and the other Directors. The established bonus 
thresholds for Directors are now as follows:

 Bonus allowable - % base salary

Performance
Pre-tax profit    Other 
vs budget CEO COO Directors

95% or below 0 0 0

100% or better 50 to 100 20 to 50 10 to 40

120% or better 100 to 150 50 to 100 40 to 75

Bonus awards thresholds are interpolated linearly 
between the 3 levels tabulated above.

Setting of bonuses is at the discretion of the 
Remuneration Committee taking into account 
our assessment of contribution to financial results, 
prevailing market conditions, budget performance in 
difficult market conditions being better rewarded than 
in a sellers market, and both individual and collective 
contribution to the implementation of strategic 
initiatives which we anticipate will deliver profits in 
future years. In addition, other circumstantial factors, 
including non-financial KPIs such as Health and Safety 
and other Corporate Social Responsibility metrics are 
taken into account. 

These guidelines will continue to be applied 
consistently in 2009 and in future years in accordance 
with our policy to align the executive Directors’ 
remuneration with the Group performance.

Process for determining and 
disclosing bonuses
Our past practice to date has been to report annually 
the bonuses paid to Directors in the year for which 
we are reporting. This followed our practice of 
determining bonus payments after the year-end results 
were announced and our annual report had been 
published. We have now decided to agree bonuses 
earlier following the year-end and match bonuses 
completely to the annual results and performance 
arising in the period to 31 December. This requires us 
to disclose the bonuses earned in the year 
under review. 

For this year only there is disclosure of the bonuses 
paid in 2008 (earned in respect of 2007) and the 
bonuses that have been paid in 2009 (earned in 
respect of 2008). From next year’s remuneration 
report the disclosure will be of the bonus earned in 
respect of the financial year under review.

Performance linkage for bonuses payable 
in respect of the 2007 and 2008 financial 
years and future policy
2007 was an outstanding year with underlying 
pre-tax profit exceeding budget by 29%. After 
considering a range of other factors as well as profit, 
the Remuneration Committee determined that bonus 
awards in 2008 based on 2007 performance should 
be geared towards the upper limits of the ranges 
specified above.

2008 proved to be another record-breaking year with 
profit again beating budget, this year by over 20%. So 
bonuses have been again generally near or at the top 
end of the ranges following the performance based 
philosophy. These bonuses earned in 2008 but paid 
in 2009 are now being accrued in the year for which 
they were earned, namely 2008 and so therefore 
appear in the audited accounts contained herein.

The Remuneration Committee has given considerable 
thought to the application of our performance against 
budget bonus formula for 2009 where the outlook is 
more uncertain. Our present thinking is to retain the 
bonus upper and lower thresholds as a percentage of 
base salary as at present but to reduce the quantum 
of absolute awards in proportion to any drop in overall 
profitability versus the previous year.

Details of the bonuses paid in 2008 together with 
those accrued in 2008 to be paid in 2009 are set out 
in the table of Directors’ emoluments.

The bonus payments are not pensionable.

Performance Share Plan
The policy under the PSP is summarised below.

l Participation is limited to the eight executive 
Directors, comprising three main Board Directors 
and five divisional Directors.

l The normal maximum limit for the value of shares 
comprising an award will be 150% of salary in any 
year. 

l The first awards were made following approval 
of the Plan at the EGM on 5 October 2007 at the 
maximum level, recognising the need to lock in 
and incentivise the new management team (in 
anticipation of the new Plan, executives had not 
participated in the SMP in 2007). Further awards 
were made in April 2008, also at the maximum 
level, following an outstanding year and continued 
strong performance and growth.

l Awards will vest no sooner than three years after 
grant.

For awards made in 2007, the Performance Condition 
was set by the Remuneration Committee so that 
vesting would be determined by the achievement 
of earnings per share targets set over a three-year 
performance period (2007, 2008, 2009) using EPS at 
the end of 2006 as a base point. Twenty-five per cent 
of an award would vest if EPS growth were equal to 
RPI+18% over the three years. All of the award would 
vest for growth of RPI+45% over three years. In setting 
these targets the Remuneration Committee had been 
cognisant of the exceptional recent earnings growth 
from which the growth targets would be measured 
as well as the uncertainty in the longer-term outlook 
in the construction industry. Nevertheless, it was 
recognised that the EPS growth rates were amongst 
the most challenging in the FTSE 250 for a plan of 
this type.

The following year, 2008, the Remuneration 
Committee made the Performance Condition 
somewhat more challenging for the three-year 
period (2008, 2009, 2010). The lower threshold 
was unchanged allowing 25% vesting if EPS growth 
achieved RPI + 18% over the three years. The upper 
threshold was raised requiring EPS growth of RPI + 
50% over the three years for full vesting.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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HAYDON BRIDGE, NORTHUMBERLAND 
} Watson Steel Structures

The new bridge is a key part of the new £24.7m, A69, Haydon Bridge 
bypass. The bridge incorporates almost 600 tonnes of structural 
steelwork and includes a four-span viaduct, over the Newcastle to 
Carlisle railway line and the River South Tyne.
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For 2009 PSP awards the Remuneration Committee 
gave extensive thought to the basis for setting the 
performance condition for the three years 2009, 2010, 
2011. Earnings per share is still considered to be the 
most appropriate performance metric (a comparative 
approach versus other companies was ruled out due 
to the lack of a suitable number of listed comparators). 
However, the environment is one in which there are 
no reliable economic forecasts or market investment 
projections on which to base the Performance 
Condition. Predicting the market in 2011 is speculative. 
Accordingly, we have elected to establish a broader 
earnings per share range, the upper threshold of which 
would see the business once again approaching the 
record year achieved in 2008. 

On this basis we have chosen to designate actual EPS 
targets for year ending 31 December 2011. There are 
three thresholds; EPS below 25p — no vesting; EPS 
25p or higher — 25% vesting; EPS 40p or higher — 
100% vesting. These thresholds represent a profit 
before tax range of approximately £30 million at the 
lower limit to £50 million at the upper limit. Putting 
this into context, the lower threshold represents profit 
at 2006 levels, the upper a return to the peak realised 
in 2008. Historically, therefore, this range represents a 
high level of profitability.

In tandem with the setting of the Performance 
Condition the Committee considered the quantum 
of the PSP share awards. At the time of writing the 
share price was £1.30. By most measures the stock 
is today significantly undervalued reflecting current 
market volatility and the negative market sentiment in 

the engineering and construction sectors. We retain 
the philosophy of providing strong incentives to the 
executives to meet targets and to continue to increase 
Directors’ shareholdings which declined substantially 
when the Board was restructured. However, we elected 
to recognise the current low share price in setting the 
quantum of awards which in 2009 will be set at 100% 
base salary versus the 150% adopted in previous 
years.

The value of dividends paid over the vesting period 
will be rolled up and paid out in shares or cash, to the 
extent shares ultimately vest. 

Shareholding Guideline
A policy was introduced in 2004 whereby executive 
Directors will be required to retain shares acquired as 
matching awards under the SMP until such time they 
have built up a holding of such shares equivalent in 
market value (at the date of vesting) to the executive’s 
base salary. Thereafter, the executive Directors will 
be under a continuing obligation to maintain at least 
such a holding. This requirement has been carried 
forward to the aggregate of awards vesting under 
the SMP and the PSP. The requirement underscores 
the Committee’s policy to align executive Director 
remuneration and shareholder interests.

Pensions
The Group contributes to each executive Director’s 
money purchase pension fund. Contribution rates for 
each Director are £50,000 pa plus 7% of base salary 
resulting in contribution levels in the range of 20-30% 
of base salary.

Service Contracts
The service contracts of executive Directors run on 
a rolling basis and are no longer than 12 months 
duration. Notice periods of 12 months are required to 
be given by all parties.

Details of the contracts of each Director, including the 
date, unexpired term and any payment obligations 
on early termination, are available from the Company 
Secretary and at the Annual General Meeting.

Performance Graph 
The following graph shows the Company’s 
performance, measured by total shareholder return, 
compared with the performance of the FTSE Small 
Cap Index. It is based on the change in the value of a 
£100 investment made on 31 December 2003 over 
the five year period ended 31 December 2008.

This index was selected as it represents a broad equity 
market index and an appropriate comparator group of 
companies over the period. 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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 Directors’ Interests

The directors and their families had the following beneficial interests in the share capital of the Company:

      31 December

      2007

     31 December (or date of

     2008 appointment)

     2.5p Ordinary 2.5p Ordinary

     Shares Shares

T J L Hayward     10,000 —

T G Haughey     120,555 61,336

P A Emerson     59,464 20,272

P J Davison     98,840 62,108

J K Elliott     200,000 200,000

D P Ridley     74,000 40,000

G H Wright     4,000 4,000

There have been no changes in the Directors’ interests between the year end and 20 April 2009.
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 AUDITED INFORMATION

Aggregate Directors’ Remuneration

The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration were as follows:
       2008 2007

       £000 £000

Emoluments — salaries, bonus and taxable benefits     3,684 5,249

 — fees      243 224

Money purchase pension contributions      321 445

       4,248 5,918

Directors’ Emoluments 

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are as follows:

 Basic   Taxable Sub Accrued bonus 2008 2007

 salary Fees Bonus benefits Total for 2008 Total Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive

T G Haughey 386  386 25 797 580 1,377 560

P A Emerson 309  263 24 596 278 874 452

P J Davison 222  166 31 419 155 574 385

P F Ellison (until 30/5/08) 107  193 2 302 — 302 391

B W Hick (until 30/5/08) 75  135 2 212 — 212 298

N Pickard (until 30/5/08) 75  135 9 219 — 219 306

I R S Cochrane (until 30/5/08) 75  45 6 126 — 126 44

J L Severs (until 30/6/07) —  — — — — — 2,813

Non-Executive

P M Levine (until 30/5/08)  31   31  31 75

T J L Hayward (from 1/6/08)  50   50  50 —

J K Elliott  60   60  60 50

J R Featherstone (until 30/5/08)  19   19  19 33

D P Ridley  38   38  38 33

G H Wright  45   45  45 33

Aggregate emoluments 1,249 243 1,323 99 2,914 1,013 3,927 5,473

Taxable benefits include the provision of company cars, fuel for company cars and private medical insurance.

The figures for individual executive Directors for 2008 are comparatively high relative to 2007 because they include a bonus payment made in relation to 

2007 and a bonus accrual in relation to 2008, both of which were charged to the Income Statement in 2008. Further explanation is provided in the Directors 

Remuneration Report on page 46. Consequently, for a like-for-like comparison with the previous year then the figures in the ‘Sub Total’ column should be used.

Directors’ Pension Entitlements

The executive Directors are members of the Group’s money purchase pension schemes. Contributions paid by the Company in respect of these schemes in the 

year are as follows:

      2008 2007

      £000 £000

T G Haughey      77 73

P A Emerson      72 68

P J Davison      66 65

P F Ellison (until 30/5/08)      28 66

B W Hick (until 30/5/08)      26 62

N Pickard (until 30/5/08)      26 62

I R S Cochrane (until 30/5/08)      26 3

J L Severs (until 30/6/07)      — 46

      321 445

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED
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 Directors’ Share Options

There are no share options outstanding at 31 December 2008 (2007: None).

The market price of the shares at 31 December 2008 was 164.50p and the range during the year was 131.25p to 460.00p.

Annual Deferred Bonus Share Scheme

Under the terms of the Severfield–Rowen Plc 1999 Annual Deferred Bonus Share Scheme no deferred share awards (as defined in the Scheme Rules) were made 

in 2008.

There were no bonus shares outstanding at 31 December 2008.

Share Matching Plan

Under the Company’s Share Matching Plan the following shares will vest with the Directors, subject to achievement of the relevant performance criteria:

      Number of

      Shares vesting

      in June 2009

T G Haughey      15,112

P A Emerson      12,092

P J Davison      11,184

      38,388

The full cost of purchasing the shares to meet the obligations under the scheme was charged to the Income Statement in 2006 and amounted to £117,000. 

No further disclosures regarding this share-based payment scheme are provided in the financial statements as the cost is immaterial.

Performance Share Plan

Under the Company’s Performance Share Plan the following awards over shares in issue at 31 December 2008 will vest with the Directors subject to achievement 

of the performance criteria described on pages 46 and 48:

      

    Number of Number  Total

    Shares vesting Shares vesting   Number

    in October 2010 in April 2011  of Shares

T G Haughey    110,944 182,912  293,856

P A Emerson    88,756 146,330  235,086

P J Davison    63,608 104,870  168,478

    263,308 434,112  697,420

Approval

This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

J K Elliott

Chairman of Remuneration Committee

27 April 2009
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THE POINT VILLAGE, DUBLIN
}  FIsher Engineering

Situated next to the International Financial Services Centre 
and National Conference Centre in Dublin, The Point Village 
development is a shopping centre with almost 28,000 sqm of 
double height retail space.

More than 13,000 tonnes of structural steelwork are utilised in 
the project.

THE PORTFOLIO
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 We have audited the Group financial statements of Severfield–Rowen Plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement,  
the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes 1 to 36. 
These Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies 
set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial statements of 
Severfield–Rowen Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company, and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the European Union are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with 
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give 
a true and fair view, whether the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation and whether the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as 
having been audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the 
Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group financial statements. The information 
given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the 
Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Review, Financial Review, and Corporate 
Social Responsibility sections that is cross-referred from the Principal Activity and 
Business Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by 
law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s 
compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined Code specified for 
our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report 
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on 
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the annual report as described in 
the contents section and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group 
financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial 
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information outside the 
annual report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group 
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements 
made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and 
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and 
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient 
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in 
the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

l the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 
31 December 2008 and of its profit for the year then ended;

l the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; 

l the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been 
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
1985; and

l the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group’s 
financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
Leeds
27 April 2009

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Severfield–Rowen Plc
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    Before    Before   

   Other Other  Other Other

   Items Items Total Items Items Total

   2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007

  Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations

Revenue  3 394,325 — 394,325 300,656 — 300,656

Cost of sales   (331,216) — (331,216) (250,936) — (250,936)

Gross profit   63,109 — 63,109 49,720 — 49,720

Other operating income   563 — 563 479 — 479

Distribution costs   (2,993) — (2,993) (1,295) — (1,295)

Administrative expenses   (5,700) (9,148) (14,848) (6,278) (2,200) (8,478)

Share of results of associates   128 — 128 58 — 58

Movement in losses on derivative financial contracts  — (737) (737) — (2,390) (2,390)

Operating profit  4 55,107 (9,885) 45,222 42,684 (4,590) 38,094

Investment revenue – interest  6 1,265 — 1,265 1,405 — 1,405

Finance costs — interest  6 (3,893) — (3,893) (1,139) — (1,139)

Profit before tax   52,479 (9,885) 42,594 42,950 (4,590) 38,360

Tax  7 (15,085) (3,533) (18,618) (13,211) 1,285 (11,926)

Profit for the period attributable to the equity holders of the parent 37,394 (13,418) 23,976 29,739 (3,305) 26,434

Earnings per share:  9 

Basic   42.20p (15.14p) 27.06p 35.74p (3.97p) 31.77p

Diluted   42.15p (15.13p) 27.02p 35.70p (3.97p) 31.73p

Other items relate to the amortisation of acquired intangibles, movements in gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments, the associated tax impact of these 
items and the tax costs from the phasing out of Industrial Buildings Allowances.

They have been disclosed separately in order to give an indication of the underlying earnings of the Group.

Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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      2008 2007

    Note £000 £000

Actuarial (loss)/profit on defined benefit pension scheme   34 (190) 285

Tax on items taken directly to equity    21 53 (85)

Impact of reduction in tax rate on deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme   — (134)

Net (expense)/gain recognised directly in equity    (137) 66

Profit for the year from continuing operations    23,976 26,434

Total recognised income and expense for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent  23,839 26,500

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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       2008 2007

     Note £000 £000

Assets

Non-current assets

 Goodwill    10 54,712 54,712

 Other intangible assets    11 30,133 39,040

 Property, plant and equipment    12 86,713 79,423

 Investment property    12 6,197 —

 Interests in associates    15 232 104

      177,987 173,279

Current assets

 Inventories    16 8,327 17,931

 Trade and other receivables    18 60,958 65,614

 Cash and cash equivalents     11,918 5,445

      81,203 88,990

Total assets     259,190 262,269

Liabilities

Current liabilities

 Trade and other payables    19 77,322 57,857

 Financial liabilities — borrowings    22 27,673 53,504

 Financial liabilities — derivative financial instruments    22 3,587 2,850

 Tax liabilities     5,976 10,394

      114,558 124,605

Non-current liabilities

 Retirement benefit obligations    34 6,651 6,745

 Deferred tax liabilities    21 15,618 11,490

 Provisions    20 2,600 2,600

      24,869 20,835

Total liabilities     139,427 145,440

Net assets     119,763 116,829

Equity

Share capital    24 2,215 2,215

Share premium    25 46,152 46,152

Other reserves    26 439 743

Retained earnings    27 70,957 67,719

Total equity     119,763 116,829

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

T G Haughey P J Davison

Director Director

Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 December 2008 
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      2008 2007

    Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations    29 84,503 22,987

Interest paid     (4,164) (768)

Tax paid     (18,861) (9,131)

Net cash from operating activities     61,478 13,088

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    2,730 1,555

Interest received     1,307 1,384

Acquisition of subsidiary, including costs    28 — (55,641)

Cash acquired with subsidiary    28 — 685

Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (12,094) (33,679)

Purchases of intangible fixed assets     (516) (632)

Net cash used in investing activities     (8,573) (86,328)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of finance lease liabilities     — (66)

Borrowings taken out     — 53,504

Repayment of borrowings     (25,831) —

Dividends paid     (20,601) (13,057)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities    (46,432) 40,381

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    6,473 (32,859)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    5,445 38,304

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    11,918 5,445

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 December 2008 

16092SEVERFIE.indd   58 21/04/2009   11:39



16092 21/04/09 Proof 7 Back End

59GROUP ACCOUNTS

 1. Significant accounting policies
 Basis of accounting
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have also been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted for use in the European Union and 
therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except 
for the revaluation of certain properties and financial instruments. The principal 
accounting policies adopted are set out below.

 Going concern
 After making enquiries, the Directors have formed a judgement at the time of 

approving the financial statements that there is a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. For this reason the Directors continue to adopt a going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The key factors considered 
by the Directors in making the statement are set out on page 18 of the 
Financial Review

 Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 

Company and all subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included 
in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective date of acquisition or 
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by 
the Group.

 All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on 
consolidation.

 Consolidated income statement disclosure
 In order to give an indication of the underlying earnings of the Group, 

certain items are presented in the middle column of the Consolidated Income 
Statement entitled “Other Items”. These include: 

 l amortisation of acquired intangibles; 
 l  movements in fair values on unrealised losses on derivative 

forward contracts
 l tax cost of phasing out of Industrial Buildings Allowances 

 Business combinations 
 The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. 

The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at 
the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus 
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

 Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an intangible asset and initially 
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination 
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities recognised. Negative goodwill arising on acquisition is 
recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

 Investments in associates
 An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise 

significant influence, but not control or joint control, through participation in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

 The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting unless it meets 
the exceptions described in IAS 28. Investments in associates are carried in the 
balance sheet at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of 
individual investments. Losses of the associates in excess of the Group’s interest 
in those associates are not recognised unless, and only to the extent that, the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations on behalf of the associates.

 
 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of 

the identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of acquisition is recognised 
as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share 
of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of the associate at the date of 
acquisition (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in the Consolidated Income 
Statement in the period of acquisition.

 The Consolidated Income Statement includes the Group’s share of associates’ 
profit less losses while the Group’s share of the net assets of the associates is 
shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

 Goodwill
 Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition 

over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill is initially recognised as an intangible asset at cost and is subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill which 
is recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any 
impairment is recognised immediately as profit or loss and is not subsequently 
reversed.

 
 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 

Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication 
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount 
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in a subsequent period.

 
 On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the attributable 

amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on 
disposal.

 
 Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has 

been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being tested for 
impairment at that date. Goodwill arising prior to 1 January 1998 of £1,122,000 
was taken directly to reserves in the year in which it arose. Such goodwill has 
not been reinstated on the balance sheet.

 Revenue recognition
 Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policy on construction contracts (see below).

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights 
to receive payment have been established.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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 Construction contracts
 Profit is recognised on contracts, if the final outcome can be assessed reliably, 

by including in the income statement revenue and related cost as contract 
activity progresses. Revenue is calculated as that proportion of the total contract 
value which costs incurred to date bear to total expected costs for that contract. 
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included in 
Revenue to the extent that there is appropriate certainty that they will be 
accepted by the customer and can be measured reliably.

 Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, 
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is 
probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the 
period in which they are incurred.

 When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, 
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

 Leases
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases.

 Amounts payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are capitalised in 
the balance sheet at fair value and depreciated in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. The capital element of the leasing commitment is included as 
obligations under finance leases. The rentals payable are apportioned between 
interest, which is charged to the income statement, and capital, which reduces 
the outstanding obligation.

 Operating profit
 Operating profit is stated after charging restructuring costs, amortisation, gains 

or losses arising on the fair value of foreign exchange derivative contracts and 
after the share of results of associates but before investment income and 
finance costs.

 Retirement benefit costs 
 The Group operates three defined contribution pension schemes and costs of 

these schemes are charged to the income statement in the period in which they 
are incurred.

 In addition, Atlas Ward, acquired on 31 March 2005, has a defined benefit 
scheme which is now closed. The liability in respect of this scheme is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, less the fair 
value of the plan assets, together with adjustments for actuarial gains/losses.

 The finance cost of liabilities and expected return of assets are included within 
Administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.

 The actuarial gain/loss is charged through the Consolidated Statement of 
Recognised Income and Expense and is made up of the difference between the 
expected return on assets and those actually achieved, the difference between 
the actuarial assumptions for liabilities and actual experience in the period and 
any changes in the assumptions used in the valuations.

 The pension scheme deficit is recognised in full and presented on the face of 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The associated deferred tax asset is recognised 
within non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

 Taxation
 The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and 

deferred tax.

 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit 
differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is 
charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items 
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in equity.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Dividends
 Dividends are recorded in the Group’s financial statements in the period in 

which they are declared appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion 
of the Company.

 Property, plant and equipment
 Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services, or for administrative purposes, are currently stated at cost in the 
balance sheet. The Group has a policy of revaluing land and buildings when 
material differences arise, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, 
determined from market-based evidence by appraisal undertaken by 
professional valuers, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially 
from that which would be determined using fair values at the balance 
sheet date.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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 Any material revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and 
buildings is credited to the properties revaluation reserve, except to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
as an expense, in which case the increase is credited to the income statement 
to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying 
amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is charged as an 
expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties 
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. 

 Depreciation on buildings is charged to income. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining 
in the properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

 Depreciation is provided on other property, plant and equipment to write off 
the cost or revalued amount of each asset over its estimated useful life at the 
following rates:

 Freehold buildings/Investment properties 1% straight-line
 Plant and machinery 10% straight-line
 Fixtures, fittings and office equipment 10% written down value
 Computer equipment 20% straight-line
 Motor vehicles 25% written down value

 Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, over the term of the 
relevant lease.

 The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in income.

 Investment property
 Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital 

appreciation, is stated at cost. Depreciation will be charged annually based 
on the Group’s stated depreciation policy together with an annual 
impairment review.

 Intangibles
 The Group recognises intangible assets at cost less accumulated amortisation 

and impairment losses. Acquired intangible assets arise as a result of applying 
IFRS 3 which requires the separate recognition of intangible assets from 
goodwill on all business combinations from 1 January 2004.

 Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line over their useful economic lives 
as follows:

  Amortisation period
 Customer relationships 10 years
 Brands 25 years
 Know-how 10 years
 Order book 18 months

 Internally generated intangible assets — research and 
development expenditure

 Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred.

 
 An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s development 

is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:
l  an asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new 

processes);
l it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic 

benefits; and
l the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

 Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their useful lives. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.

 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
 At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 

tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that 
are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An intangible asset with 
an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired.

 
 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 

use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

 
 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to 

be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

 
 Inventories
 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 

comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and 
those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in 
marketing, selling and distribution.

 Financial instruments
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance 

sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

 Trade receivables
 Trade receivables are classified as loans and receivables, and therefore measured 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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 Investments
 Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

 Current asset investments are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.

 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits, 

and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value.

 
 Bank borrowings
 Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums payable 
on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for in the 
income statement using the effective interest method and are added to the 
carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the 
period in which they arise.

 Trade payables
 Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

 Equity instruments
 Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.
 
 Share-based payment transactions
 The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments. These share-based 

payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant based on the Group’s 
estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value determined is then 
expensed in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the 
shares is measured by use of the Black–Scholes pricing model.

 
 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result 

of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle 
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date, and are 
discounted to present value where the effect is material.

 Derivative financial instruments
 The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage 

its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign 
exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency options. 
Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 22 to the 
financial statements.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each balance 
sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

 Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described 

in note 1, management has made the following judgements that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. Those 

judgements involving estimations are dealt with below.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year, are also discussed below.

 Revenue and margin recognition
 The Group’s revenue recognition and margin recognition are central to the 

way the Group values the work it has carried out in each financial year. These 

policies require forecasts to be made of the outcomes of long-term construction 

contracts, which require assessments and judgements to be made on recovery 

of pre-contract costs, changes in work scopes, contract programmes and 

maintenance liabilities.

 Recoverability of internally generated intangible asset
 During the year, management considered the recoverability of its internally 

generated intangible asset which is included in its balance sheet at £2,481,000. 

The project is progressing in a very satisfactory manner, and customer reaction 

has given management assurance over their estimate of anticipated revenues 

from the project. Several machines are now in use on our sites. Management 

is very confident that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full. 

This situation will be closely monitored, and adjustments made in future periods 

if future market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate. The cost 

of this development is now being amortised over 10 years at a rate of £275,000 

per annum.

 

 Retirement benefit obligations
 Details of the Group’s defined pension scheme are set out in note 34. The 

scheme has been valued in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”. At 

31 December 2008 the defined benefit obligation recognised on the Group’s 

balance sheet was £6,651,000. The benefit obligation is calculated using a 

number of assumptions including increases in pension benefits, mortality rates 

and inflation and the future investment returns from the scheme’s assets. The 

present value of the benefit obligations is calculated by discounting the benefit 

obligation using market rates on relevant AA corporate bonds at the balance 

sheet date.

 The scheme’s assets are valued at market rates at the balance sheet date. Effects 

of changes in the actuarial assumptions underlying the benefit obligation, 

discount rates and the difference between expected and actual returns on the 

scheme’s assets are classified as actuarial gains and losses.

 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising from acquisitions
 Determining whether goodwill or associated intangible assets are impaired 

requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which 

these assets have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity 

to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating 

unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The 

carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet date was £54,712,000 and 

of intangible assets arising from acquisitions was £27,652,000. No impairment 

adjustment has been made for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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 3. Revenue and segmental analysis

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Revenue by destination:

United Kingdom     314,317 289,622

Europe     79,530 8,989

Other countries     478 2,045

     394,325 300,656

Revenue, profit before tax and net assets, in both years, related to the design, fabrication and erection of structural steelwork and related activities, and 
represents the Group’s primary reported information.

Revenue, which relates wholly to construction contracts, and related assets in both years originated from the United Kingdom. Secondary reported information 
is provided for Revenue by destination, above.

4. Operating profit

     2008 2007

 Operating profit for the year has been arrived at after crediting:   £000 £000

Rent receivable     503 418

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment    763 114

and after charging:

Depreciation on owned assets     5,094 3,925

Amortisation of intangible assets     9,423 2,200

Unrealised losses on derivative financial assets    737 2,390

Auditors’ remuneration — audit     140 142

 — other services    129 474

Rentals under operating leases

— hire of plant and machinery     4,518 2,587

— other operating leases     3,573 3,302

Staff costs (note 5)     65,994 55,985
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 4. Operating profit continued

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts  18 18

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group

 — The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation   122 124

Total audit fees     140 142

Other services pursuant to legislation

 — Class I circular reporting accountant services    — 300

Tax services

— advisory and compliance services     129 53

— advisory services in relation to the Fisher Engineering acquisition   — 61

Corporate finance services     — 60

Total non-audit fees     129 474

5. Directors and employees
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the year are provided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 50 and 51.

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive Directors) during the year was:

     2008 2007

     Number Number

Production     1,100 931

Site     219 207

Sales and administration     64 45

     1,383 1,183

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Wages and salaries     56,784 48,172

Social security costs     6,489 5,740

Other pension costs     2,721 2,073

     65,994 55,985

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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 6. Investment revenue and finance costs

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Interest receivable     1,265 1,405

Interest on bank borrowings     (3,893) (1,138)

Interest on finance leases     — (1)

Total finance costs     (3,893) (1,139)

Net interest (payable)/receivable     (2,628) 266

7. Tax

a) The tax charge comprises:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Current tax

UK corporation tax charge at 28.5% (2007: 30%) based on profits for the year   15,174 12,940

Adjustments to prior years’ tax provision    (737) (16)

Total current tax     14,437 12,924

Deferred tax

Current year charge/(credit) (note 21)    4,131 (1,009)

Adjustments to prior years’ provision     50 11

Total deferred tax     4,181 (998)

Total tax on profit on ordinary activities    18,618 11,926

b) Tax reconciliation

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Profit before tax     42,594 38,360

Tax on Group profit on ordinary activities at standard

UK corporation tax rate of 28.5% (2007: 30%)    12,138 11,508

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes    789 581

Lower tax rates due to small companies    31 (139)

UK dividend income     — (7)

Unprovided deferred tax movement     (40) (8)

Capital gains rolled over     87 (4)

Adjustments to prior years’ provisions    (687) (5)

Changes in capital allowance legislation    6,300 —

Income tax expense for the year     18,618 11,926

During 2007 proposed amendments to the Industrial Buildings Allowances regime were announced. These amendments have been enacted during the 
year, resulting in the deferred tax liability held on the Consolidated Balance Sheet increasing by £6.3 million with a corresponding taxation charge to the 
Consolidated Income Statement.
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 8. Dividends

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 13.25p (2006: 9.25p) per share  11,741 7,549

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 10.00p (2007: 6.75p) per share  8,860 5,508

     20,601 13,057

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 10.00p (2007: 13.25p) per share  8,860 11,741

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial 
statements.

9. Earnings per share
There are no discontinued operations in either the current or prior year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data, reflecting the 4:1 share split in October 2007:

Earnings

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit attributable
to equity holders of the parent company    23,976 26,434

Earnings for the purposes of underlying basic earnings per share being underlying
net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company   37,394 29,739

     Number Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share  88,607,876 83,218,835

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share-based payments scheme     110,204 78,803

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share  88,718,080 83,297,638

Basic earnings per share         27.06p 31.77p

Underlying basic earnings per share         42.20p 35.74p

Diluted earnings per share         27.02p 31.73p

Underlying diluted earnings per share       42.15p 35.70p

Reconciliation of earnings

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company   23,976 26,434

Other items     13,418 3,305

Underlying net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company   37,394 29,739

Further details of others items are given in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008 
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 10. Goodwill

      £000

Cost

At 1 January 2007      6,760

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary     47,980

At 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008     54,740

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January 2007      28

Impairment losses for the year      —

At 1 January 2008      28

Impairment losses for the year      —

At 31 December 2008      28

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2008      54,712

At 31 December 2007      54,712

The carrying value of goodwill is allocated to cash generating units as follows:

      £000

On the Fisher Engineering acquisition in 2007     47,980

On the Atlas Ward acquisition in 2005     6,571

On the Watson Steel Structures acquisition in 2001     161

      54,712

The recoverable amounts of goodwill are determined from value in use calculations. Forecast cash flows are based on approved annual budgets and plans and 
subsequent cash flows are increased in line with projected economic growth rates. The cash flows have been discounted using a pre-tax discount value of 11% 
for weighted average cost of capital.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.
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 11. Other intangible assets

    Intangible assets

    acquired on Development

    acquisition costs Total

    £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 January 2007    — 1,608 1,608

Additions    39,000 632 39,632

At 31 December 2007    39,000 2,240 41,240

Additions    — 516 516

At 31 December 2008    39,000 2,756 41,756

Amortisation

At 1 January 2007    — — —

Charge for the year    2,200 — 2,200

At 31 December 2007    2,200 — 2,200

Charge for the year    9,148 275 9,423

At 31 December 2008    11,348 275 11,623

Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2008    27,652 2,481 30,133

At 31 December 2007    36,800 2,240 39,040

The intangible assets acquired on acquisition arise as a result of applying IFRS 3 which requires the separate recognition of acquired intangibles from goodwill. 
During the prior year the acquisition of Fisher Engineering Ltd resulted in intangible assets as follows:

  

  Customer relationships Brands Order book Know-how Total

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost 

At 1 January 2007  — — — — —

Acquired in year  25,800 3,200 9,600 400 39,000

At 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008  25,800 3,200 9,600 400 39,000

Amortisation

At 1 January 2007  — — — — —

Charge for the year  620 30 1,540 10 2,200

At 31 December 2007  620 30 1,540 10 2,200

Charge for the year  2,580 128 6,400 40 9,148

At 31 December 2008  3,200 158 7,940 50 11,348

Net book value

At 31 December 2008  22,600 3,042 1,660 350 27,652

At 31 December 2007  25,180 3,170 8,060 390 36,800

Amortisation of acquired intangibles is included in the Consolidated Income Statement as part of Administrative expenses and is classified within the middle 
column entitled “Other items”.

The weighted average amortisation period for each category of intangible asset is disclosed in the Statement of Significant Accounting Policies on page 61.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 12. Property, plant and equipment, investment property

  Freehold and  Fixtures, 

  long leasehold  fittings

 Investment land and Plant and and office Motor

 property buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost 

At 1 January 2007 — 26,051 27,461 1,144 2,953 57,609

Additions — 27,278 5,154 84 1,163 33,679

Acquisition of subsidiary — 2,217 4,588 332 371 7,508

Disposals — (51) (3,475) (53) (1,257) (4,836)

At 31 December 2007 — 55,495 33,728 1,507 3,230 93,960

Additions —  5,100 5,977 173 844 12,094

Transfer from inventories 6,197 2,257 — — — 8,454

Disposals — (686) (1,916) — (829) (3,431)

At 31 December 2008 6,197 62,166 37,789 1,680 3,245 111,077

Accumulated depreciation 

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2007 — 590 11,719 653 1,045 14,007

Charge for the year — 202 2,954 173 596 3,925

Disposals — — (2,683) (53) (659) (3,395)

At 31 December 2007 — 792 11,990 773 982 14,537

Charge for the year — 215 4,036 214 629 5,094

Disposals — (26) (1,029) — (409) (1,464)

At 31 December 2008 — 981 14,997 987 1,202 18,167

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2008 6,197 61,185 22,792 693 2,043 92,910

At 31 December 2007 — 54,703 21,738 734 2,248 79,423
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 12. Property, plant and equipment, investment property continued
The Group operates a system of regular valuations of freehold and long leasehold land and buildings across its portfolio which have included using FPD Savills 
and Rushton International Chartered Surveyors. This operates on a rotational basis, with one of the five main properties reviewed each year. The five properties 
are the Severfield–Reeve Structures Ltd and Severfield–Reeve Projects Ltd sites at Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate, the Watson Steel Structures Ltd site at 
Lostock Lane, Bolton, the Atlas Ward Structures Ltd site at Sherburn and the Fisher Engineering Ltd steel storage site at Enniskillen in Northern Ireland.

To date, no material surplus or deficit over net book value has been identified, and accordingly no adjustment to revalue freehold and long leasehold land and 
buildings has been considered necessary.

The net book value of the Group’s plant and machinery includes £Nil (2007: £Nil) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

The investment property represents land and buildings held in Leeds. The original intention was to renovate the property and then sell it, rather than holding 
on for future capital appreciation. Consequently, it was included in Inventories on the Balance Sheet at 31 December 2007. Due to the decline in market 
demand and conditions in 2008 for such properties the Group has changed its original intentions for the property and is now holding it as an investment 
property, in line with IAS 40. The Group is receiving rental income on this property until the end of 2012 at a current rate of £378,000 per annum. The 
cost model, allowable under IAS 40, has been used to value the property on the Balance Sheet. This will be subject to an annual depreciation charge at 1% 
commencing 1 January 2009 as required under the Group’s depreciation policy. The fair value of the property is £6,197,000. The Directors have reviewed this 
carrying value as at 31 December 2008 and in view of the rental income receivable do not consider an impairment review to be appropriate.

13. Subsidiaries
The Company has investments in the following significant subsidiary undertakings. All of the companies listed are registered in England.

Severfield–Reeve Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Watson Steel Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Atlas Ward Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Fisher Engineering Ltd — steel fabrication
Rowen Structures Ltd — project contracting
Steelcraft Erection Services Ltd — steel erection
Severfield–Reeve International Ltd — overseas contracts
Severfield–Reeve Projects Ltd — project managers of building contracts

The Company owns the whole of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries noted above.

14. Investments and interests in joint ventures
On 3 February 2006 Severfield–Reeve Structures Ltd entered into a 50/50 joint venture agreement with Murray Metals Group Ltd to form Steel UK Ltd, a 
company involved in steel buying activities. To date, both parties have continued to purchase steel through the individual companies and no trade has passed 
through Steel UK Ltd. The share capital invested by the Group is a nominal sum of £50.

Steel UK Ltd is registered in England.

On 17 November 2008 a formal agreement was signed in India with JSW Building Systems Ltd (a subsidiary of JSW Steel Ltd of India) to form a 50/50 joint 
venture to create a structural steelwork business in Bellary and Mumbai, India, serving primarily the Indian market.

No financial investment in the joint venture had taken place at 31 December 2008.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 15. Interests in associates

The Company has an interest in two associated companies as follows:

     Holding % Class of capital

Kennedy Watts Partnership Ltd — CAD/CAM steelwork design   25.1 Preferred ordinary

Fabsec Ltd — development of fire beam   25.0 Ordinary

    Share of net Loans to

    assets/ associate

   Goodwill (liabilities) undertaking Total

Group   £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2007   362 (387) 71 46

Profits retained   — 58 — 58

At 31 December 2007   362 (329) 71 104

Profits retained   — 128 — 128

At 31 December 2008   362 (201) 71 232

The Group’s share of the retained profit for the year of the associates is made up as follows:

    Kennedy Watts

    Partnership Fabsec

    Ltd Ltd Total

    £000 £000 £000

Share of results    86 42 128

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Total assets     2,931 1,594

Total liabilities     (3,739) (3,248)

Net liabilities     (808) (1,654)

Group’s share of associates’ net liabilities    (201) (329)

Revenue     3,651 2,881

Profit after tax     903 431

Group’s share of associates’ profit after tax for the period    128 58

During the year ended 31 December 2005 the Board reviewed the investment of long-term loans outstanding from Fabsec Ltd of £614,000 and concluded 
that there was an element of doubt over the collection of this loan in the short to medium term. Consequently, after considering the net liabilities of Fabsec 
Ltd, a provision of £543,000 was made against the debt. This provision remains in place at 31 December 2008.

16. Inventories

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Raw materials and consumables     4,243 4,874

Work-in-progress     4,084 13,057

     8,327 17,931
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 17. Construction contracts

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Contracts in progress at balance sheet date:

Amounts due from construction contract customers
included in trade and other receivables    54,374 60,478

Amounts due to construction contract customers
included in trade and other payables     (7,526) (1,969)

     46,848 58,509

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less

recognised losses to date     1,225,019 1,081,716

Less: progress billings     (1,178,171) (1,023,207)

     46,848 58,509

At 31 December 2008, retentions held by customers for contract work amounted to £13,612,000 (2007: £11,020,000).

At 31 December 2008, amounts of £3,883,000 (2007: £3,803,000) included in trade and other receivables and arising from construction contracts are due 
for settlement after more than 12 months. 

18. Trade and other receivables 

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Amounts due from construction contract customers (note 17)   54,374 60,478

Other receivables     4,891 2,803

Prepayments and accrued income     1,693 2,333

     60,958 65,614

Within other receivables there is deferred expenditure of £Nil (2007: £Nil) due after more than one year.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit rating to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by 
customer. It is Group policy that adequate credit insurance is taken out on all customers to manage the exposure that may arise as the contractual work 
proceeds. Accordingly, no bad debt provisions are held or expenses incurred. However, a credit insurance committee has now been established to review 
situations where adequate credit insurance on the Group’s customers cannot be purchased in the present economic climate.

Due to the nature of the business involving applications for payment, contractually overdue amounts within trade and other receivables are limited to 
retentions. The Group has rigorous procedures in place for monitoring and obtaining settlement of retentions in a prompt manner. Amounts overdue at 
31 December 2008 in respect of retentions were £79,000 (2007: £44,000).

19. Trade and other payables

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Trade creditors     40,102 34,072

Other taxation and social security     8,127 6,039

Other creditors and accruals     21,049 15,253

Payments in advance (note 17)     7,526 1,969

Amounts owed to associates     518 524

     77,322 57,857

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 50 days (2007: 51 days).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 20. Provisions

      Contract

      provisions

      £000

At 1 January 2007      3,000

Utilised in year      (100)

Released in year      (300)

At 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008     2,600

Contract provisions relate to provisions on contracts including fault and warranty provisions, and are expected to be utilised within three years. Provision is 
made for the Directors’ best estimate of known legal claims in progress.

21. Deferred tax liabilities
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting period.

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities     (18,706) (14,457)

Deferred tax assets     3,088 2,967

Net deferred tax liability     (15,618) (11,490)

The net deferred tax liability is made up as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Excess capital allowances     (10,877) (4,153)

Other timing differences     135 280

Intangible assets on acquisition of subsidiary    (7,742) (10,304)

Forward exchange contracts     1,004 798

On retirement benefit obligations     1,862 1,889

Net deferred tax liability     (15,618) (11,490)

The movement during the year in net deferred tax liability is as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

At 1 January      (11,490) (742)

Current year (charge)/credit     (4,131) 1,009

Adjustment in respect of prior years     (50) (11)

On acquisition of subsidiary     — (11,527)

Deferred tax in relation to pension scheme (profits)/losses    53 (85)

Reduction in tax rate on defined pension scheme    — (134)

At 31 December      (15,618) (11,490)

The deferred tax asset reducing the deferred tax liability relates to 28% of the Group’s deficit on its retirement benefit defined scheme of £6,651,000, the 
valuation of financial instruments and other timing differences.

There is no unprovided deferred tax.
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 22. Financial instruments

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return to stakeholders. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Gearing ratio
The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis following the taking out of borrowings in 2007. As part of this review, it considers 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at the year end is as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Borrowings     (27,673) (53,504)

Cash and cash equivalents     11,918 5,445

Net debt     (15,755) (48,059)

Equity     119,763 116,829

Net debt to equity ratio     13.2% 41.1%

Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group attributable to equity holders of the parent. There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Signifi cant accounting policies
Details of the signifi cant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of fi nancial asset, fi nancial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the fi nancial 
statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 22. Financial instruments continued

Categories of financial instruments

 Carrying value

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents     11,918 5,445

Amounts due from construction contract customers    54,374 60,478

Financial liabilities

Trade creditors     (40,102) (34,072)

Other payables     (36,702) (23,261)

Borrowings     (27,673) (53,504)

Derivative financial instruments     (3,587) (2,850)

Derivative financial instruments are the only instruments valued at fair value through profit or loss, and are valued as such on initial recognition. These relate 
to foreign currency forward contracts measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves matching the maturities of the contracts. Except for 
derivative financial instruments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements and 
are considered to approximate their fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash held by the Group and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets 
approximates their fair value.

General risk management principles
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. A formal risk assessment and 
management framework for assessing, monitoring and managing the strategic operational and financial risks of the Group is in place to ensure appropriate 
risk management of its operations. Internal control and risk management systems are embedded in the operations of the divisions.

Financial risks and management
The Group has exposure to a variety of financial risks through the conduct of its operations. Risk management is governed by the Group’s operational 
policies, which are subject to periodic review by the Board of Directors.

Credit risk
The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises from the potential for non-payment or default from construction contract debtors. The degree to 
which the Group is exposed to this credit risk depends on the individual characteristics of the contract counterparty and the nature of the project. The 
Group’s credit risk is also influenced by the general macroeconomic conditions. The Group does not have any concentration risk in respect of amounts due 
from construction contract customers at the reporting date with them being spread across a wide range of customers. Due to the nature of the Group’s 
operations, it is normal practice for customers to hold retentions in respect of contracts completed. Retentions held by customers at 31 December 2008 were 
£13,612,000 (2007: £11,020,000).

The Group manages its exposure to credit risk through the application of its credit risk management policies which specify the minimum requirements in 
respect of the credit worthiness of potential customers, assessed through reports from credit agencies, and the timing and extent of progress payments in 
respect of contracts. In addition, before accepting any new customer adequate credit insurance is taken out as reported in Note 18. However, in the current 
economic environment credit insurance is becoming increasingly more difficult to acquire. Therefore, a credit insurance committee has been established, 
comprising T G Haughey, P A Emerson and P J Davison.

The Group manages the collection of retentions through its post-completion project monitoring procedures and ongoing contact with customers so as to 
ensure that potential issues that could lead to the non-payment of retentions are addressed as soon as they are identified.

Amounts outstanding from construction contract customers are due with reference to the payment terms for each particular contract but the majority would 
be receivable within four months from the end of the reporting period. Amounts due for settlement after 12 months are disclosed in Note 17.

The Group uses four banks to spread the risk of holding significant cash balances with financial institutions.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk 
rests with the Board.

The Group generates cash through its operations and aims to manage liquidity by ensuring that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stress conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. Forecast and actual 
cash flow is continuously monitored.
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 22. Financial instruments continued
Trade creditors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using effective interest rates, and the Directors consider this to be the 
case at the end of the reporting period. The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 50 days (2007: 51 days), which reflects the mix of when these 
amounts are contractually due.

Borrowings represent the Group’s revolving credit facility from the Royal Bank of Scotland and National Australia Bank jointly which provides credit support of 
up to £70 million at an interest rate of 0.45% above LIBOR. These borrowings were taken out in 2007 in relation to the acquisition of Fisher Engineering Ltd. 
The amount borrowed is scheduled to be redrawn at a lower amount in 2009. The revolving credit facility is available for three years ending 21 August 2010.

Borrowings outstanding at 31 December 2008 amounted to £27,673,000 (2007: £53,504,000).

IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the maturity of the Group’s remaining contractual financial liabilities. The tables below detail the Group’s remaining contractual 
maturity for its financial liabilities and assets:

2008 Analysis

 Maturity Analysis

 Balance sheet Less than 3 months 1–2 2–5

 value 3 months to 1 year years years Total

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 76,804 73,107 3,697 — — 76,804

Financial liabilities — borrowings 1 27,673 — 27,673 — — 27,673

Financial liabilities — derivative

financial instruments 2 3,587 1,592 1,879 116 — 3,587

Total 108,064 74,699 33,249 116 — 108,064

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 (11,918) (11,918) — — — (11,918)

Total  (11,918) (11,918) — — — (11,918)

Grand total 96,146 62,781 33,249 116 — 96,146

2007 Analysis

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 57,333 55,044 2,052 237 — 57,333

Financial liabilities — borrowings 1 53,504 — 53,504 — — 53,504

Financial liabilities — derivative

financial instruments 2 2,850 654 2,196 — — 2,850

Total 113,687 55,698 57,752 237 — 113,687

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 (5,445) (5,445) — — — (5,445)

Total (5,445) (5,445) — — — (5,445)

Grand Total 108,242 50,253 57,752 237 — 108,242

1 Details of the conditions applying to these borrowings are given above.
2 The Group has no gross settled derivative financial instruments and, therefore, solely the pay leg has been disclosed within liabilities.
3 Cash and cash equivalents have also been disclosed in order to present a full analysis of the Group’s financial assets.

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in credit risks described above, in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 
The Group has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk, and in January 2008 to interest rates.

Market risk exposures are monitored and are supplemented by sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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22. Financial instruments continued
Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures 
are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of currency risks by using derivative financial instruments when appropriate to hedge these risk exposures against 
contracted sales. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Group does not enter into or 
trade financial instruments including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

 Liabilities Assets

   2008  2007 2008 2007

   £000 £000 £000 £000

Euro   (748) (3,751) 4,327 4,181

Dollar   — — 11 222

   (748) (3,751) 4,338 4,403

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the euro.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in sterling against the relevant foreign currencies. Ten per cent is the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and derivative 
financial instruments, and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase 
in profit and other equity where the sterling strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the sterling against the relevant currency, 
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be negative.

 Euro currency impact

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Profit or loss and equity     2,210 6,903

The Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency has decreased in 2008 due to a reduction in the level of ongoing forward exchange contracts at 31 December 
2008 and relates principally to the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Forward foreign exchange contracts
It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover euro currency receipts on relevant contracts.

At 31 December 2008, the Group had forward exchange contracts held for the sale of 23.90 million euros (2007: 98.13 million euros) and 4.00 million US 
dollars (2007: Nil) at an average exchange rate of 1.2155 euros (2007: 1.4161 euros) and 1.7375 US dollars (2007: Nil) to the pound and maturing within 12 
months of the year end.

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as described under the borrowings paragraph earlier in this note. In line with the Group’s policies in January 2008 it 
entered into a fixed rate swap agreement for the majority of its anticipated borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis 
is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 0.5% increase or decrease is used when 
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.5% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the Group’s 
equity at that date would decrease by £78,000 (2007: £240,000). This is attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings. 

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the current period due to the decrease in the level of borrowings in the year. Current indications 
are that the level of Group borrowings will decrease further during 2009.
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 23. Share-based payments
The Group introduced during the prior year a share-based incentive scheme open to all employees of the Group although the current intention is that only 
the Company’s executive Directors and selected senior employees will participate in the scheme. Further details are given in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 46 and 48. The Group recognised a total credit of £304,000 in the year (2007: charge of £604,000) with a corresponding entry to reserves.

Performance Share Plan
The vesting of awards is subject to performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee. Two awards had been granted to 31 December 2008:

●  During 2007 the Remuneration Committee granted 65,827 ordinary shares of 10p each at nil value to the executive Directors of the Company. 
Following the 4:1 share split in October 2007 these converted to 263,308 ordinary shares of 2.5p each. The vesting of these awards will be dependent 
on the Company’s earnings per share performance over the three year period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2009, with the following vesting 
schedule to apply:

Company’s EPS performance over the performance period     % of award vesting

Equal to less than RPI + 18%      0%

Equal to RPI + 18%      25%

Equal to RPI + 45% or better      100%

Between RPI + 18% and RPI + 45%     Pro rata between 25% and 100%

The Black–Scholes pricing model has been used to measure the fair value of the shares granted. The assumptions used in the model are as follows:

Share price on date of grant      £5.07*

Exercise price      Nil

Expected volatility (using historic performance)     50%

Risk-free rate      5%

Dividend      20.0p

Expected percentage options exercised versus granted     25%

Actual life      3 years

* Granted on 5 October 2007. Share price adjusted to reflect subsequent 4:1 share split.

During 2008 the expected percentage options exercised versus granted changed from 100% to 25%. Consequently, the Black–Scholes model produced, 
using the above assumptions, a credit in the year of £304,000 (2007: charge of £604,000).

●  During 2008 the Remuneration Committee granted a further 434,112 ordinary shares of 2.5p each at Nil value to the executive Directors of the Company. 
The vesting of these awards will be dependent on the Company’s earnings per share performance over the three year period from 1 January 2008 to 
31 December 2010, with the following vesting schedule to apply:

Company’s EPS performance over the performance period     % of award vesting
Equal to less than RPI + 18%      0%
Equal to RPI + 18%      25%
Equal to RPI + 50% or better      100%
Between RPI + 18% and RPI + 50%     Pro rata between 25% and 100%

The Black–Scholes pricing model has been used to measure the fair value of the shares granted. The assumptions used in the model are as follows:

Share price on date of grant      £3.1675*

Exercise price      Nil

Expected volatility (using historic performance)     50%

Risk-free rate      5%

Dividend      20.0p

Expected percentage options exercised versus granted     Nil

Actual life      3 years

* Granted on 30 April 2008.

The Black–Scholes model produced, using the above assumptions, an annual charge of £Nil.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 24. Share capital

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Authorised:

108,000,000 ordinary shares of 2.5p each    2,700 2,700

Issued and fully paid:

88,607,876 ordinary shares of 2.5p each    2,215 2,215

There are no share options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

25. Share premium account

      £000

Balance at 1 January 2007      9,770

Premium arising on issue of equity shares      36,382

Balance at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008     46,152

26. Other reserves

    Share-based Other

    payment reserve reserves Total

    £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2007    — 139 139

Share based payments in year    604 — 604

Balance at 31 December 2007    604 139 743

Share based payment adjustment in year   (304) — (304)

Balance at 31 December 2008    300 139 439

27. Retained earnings

      £000

Balance at 1 January 2007      54,276

Net profit for the year      26,434

Dividends paid      (13,057)

Actuarial profit on defined benefit pension scheme     285

Deferred income taxes on defined benefit pension scheme     (85)

Reduction in tax rate on deferred tax on defined benefits pension scheme    (134)

Balance at 31 December 2007      67,719

Net profit for the year      23,976

Dividends paid      (20,601)

Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension scheme     (190)

Deferred income taxes on defined benefit pension scheme     53

Balance at 31 December 2008      70,957
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 28. Acquisition of subsidiary in previous year
On 8 October 2007, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Action Merchants Ltd for a total consideration of £92,198,000. Action 
Merchants Ltd is the parent company of Fisher Engineering Ltd, a company based in Enniskillen in Northern Ireland involved in the design, fabrication and 
erection of structural steelwork. This transaction was accounted for by the acquisition method of accounting. 

    Book Fair value Fair

    value adjustments value

    £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment    7,508 — 7,508

Intangible assets    — 39,000 39,000

Inventories    5,122 — 5,122

Trade and other receivables    14,443 — 14,443

Cash and cash equivalents    685 — 685

Trade and other payables    (10,171) — (10,171)

Derivative financial instruments    — (460) (460)

Tax liabilities    (382) — (382)

Deferred tax liability    (736) (10,791) (11,527)

    16,469 27,749 44,218

Goodwill      47,980

Total consideration      92,198

Satisfied by:

Cash      55,641

Issue of shares      36,557

      92,198

Being:

Consideration      90,000

Costs      2,198

      92,198

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Cash consideration      55,641

Cash and cash equivalents acquired      (685)

      54,956

The Directors considered the premium arising on the acquisition and concluded there were separately identifiable intangible assets of £39 million which were 
capable of being recognised, with an associated deferred tax impact.

The balance of goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Action Merchants Ltd Group was attributable to the anticipated profitability of the distribution of the 
Group’s products in a broader range of markets and the anticipated future operating synergies from the combination. It was also attributable to the significant 
experience and knowledge of its employees and the potential to develop premises acquired as part of the business.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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29. Notes to the cash flow statement

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Operating profit from continuing operations    45,222 38,094

Adjustments for:

 Share of results of associated companies    (128) (58)

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment    5,094 3,925

 Pension movements     (284) (257)

 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment    (763) (114)

 Movement in provisions     — (400)

 Share-based payments     (304) 604

 Amortisation of intangibles     9,423 2,200

 Unrealised losses on derivative financial contracts    737 2,390

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital   58,997 46,384

 Decrease/(increase) in inventories    1,150 (9,476)

 Decrease/(increase) in receivables    4,618 (4,364)

 Increase/(decrease) in payables     19,738 (9,557)

Cash generated by operations     84,503 22,987

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash at bank and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

30. Analysis of net debt

   At   At 31

   1 January Cash Borrowings December

   2008 flow repaid 2008

   £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand   5,445 6,473 — 11,918

Borrowings   (53,504) — 25,831 (27,673)

Net debt   (48,059) 6,473 25,831 (15,755)

31. Capital commitments

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Contracted for but not provided in the financial statements    — 1,900

32. Contingent liabilities
The Company and its subsidiaries have provided unlimited multilateral guarantees to secure any bank overdrafts and loans of all other Group companies. At 
31 December 2008 these amounted to £49,721,000 (2007: £69,719,000). The Group has also given performance bonds in the normal course of trade.
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 33. Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessee
The Group leases a number of its premises under operating leases which expire between 2009 and 2032.

The total future minimum lease rentals are as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Minimum lease rentals due:

— Within one year     — 41

— After one year and within five years    18 —

— After five years     20,638 22,009

     20,656 22,050

The Group also leases certain items of plant and machinery and vehicles whose total future minimum lease rentals are as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Minimum lease rentals due:

— Within one year     645 486

— After one year and within five years    6,586 5,354

— After five years     710 779

     7,941  6,619

 The Group as lessor
Property rental income earned during the year was £403,000 (2007: £359,000). The properties are expected to generate rental yields of 5.85% on an ongoing 
basis. The properties held have committed tenants for the next two to nine years. All operating lease contracts contain marked review clauses in the event that 
the lessees exercise the options to renew. The lessees do not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

The Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments.

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

— Within one year     494 378

— After one year and within five years    1,612 1,604

— After five years     321 —

     2,427  1,982

34. Retirement benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates two defined contribution retirement benefit schemes. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds 
under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £2,056,000 (2007: £1,710,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the 
rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2008, contributions of £184,000 (2007: 249,000) due in respect of the current reporting period had not been paid over 
to the schemes.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 34. Retirement benefit schemes continued

Defined benefit schemes
Atlas Ward has a defined benefit scheme which is now closed to new members. 

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 5 April 2008 by Mr Alex Pearse, 
Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were measured 
using the projected unit credit method.

     2008 2007

     % %

Key assumptions used:

Discount rate     5.75 5.70

Expected return on scheme assets     5.20 5.60

Expected rate of salary increases     — —

Future pension increases      2.75 3.25

When considering mortality assumptions a male life expectancy to 82 at age 65 has been used in both 2008 and 2007.

Impact on scheme liabilities of changes to key assumptions:

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.5% Decrease/increase by 7.6%
Rate of mortality Increase by 1 year Increase by 2.4%

Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Interest cost     1,196 1,081

Expected return on scheme assets     (815) (718)

     381 363

The charge for the year has been included in administrative expenses. Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the statement of recognised income 
and expense. The cumulative actual gains and losses recognised amount to a loss of £1,819,000.

The actual return on scheme assets was a loss of £859,000 (2007: gain £613,000).

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of the Atlas Ward defined benefit retirement scheme is as follows:

    2008 2007 2006

    £000 £000 £000

Present value of defined benefit obligations   (20,438) (21,222) (21,038)

Fair value of scheme assets    13,787 14,477 13,751

Deficit in scheme    (6,651) (6,745) (7,287)

Liability recognised in the balance sheet   (6,651) (6,745) (7,287)

The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage of the total scheme assets are as follows:

     2008 2007

     % %

Equities     23.0 29.4

Bonds     18.7 54.1

Cash     48.3 4.5

Property     10.0 12.0

     100.0 100.0
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 34. Retirement benefit schemes continued
When investments are held in bonds and cash, the expected long-term rate of return is taken to be the yields generally prevailing on such assets at the 
balance sheet date. A higher rate of return is expected on equity investments, which is based more on realistic future expectations than on the returns that 
have been available historically. The overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is then the average of these rates taking into account the underlying 
asset portfolio of the pension plan. 

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

At 1 January     (21,222) (21,038)

Interest cost     (1,196) (1,081)

Actuarial gains and losses     1,484 390

Benefits paid     496 507

At 31 December     (20,438) (21,222)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

At 1 January     14,477 13,751

Expected return on scheme assets     815 718

Actuarial gains and losses     (1,674) (105)

Contributions from the sponsoring companies    665 620

Benefits paid     (496) (507)

At 31 December     13,787 14,477

None of the scheme’s assets were invested in Atlas Ward or property occupied by Atlas Ward.

The Group expects to contribute £72,500 per month to its defined benefit pension scheme in the year to 31 December 2009.

History of experience of gains and losses:

    2008 2007 2006

Experience gains and losses on scheme assets (£000)   (1,674) (105) (418)

Percentage of scheme assets    (12.1%) (0.7%) (3.0%)

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities (£000)   (198) (373) 57

Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities   (1.0%) (1.8%) 0.3%

Total amount recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised 
Income and Expense (£000)    (190) 285 (1,169)

Percentage of the present value of scheme liabilities   (0.9%) 1.3% (5.6%)
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 35. Related party transactions
The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is provided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 50 and 51.

In addition to the Company’s executive Directors members of the newly established Executive Committee are also considered as key management 
personnel of the Group. Information about the remuneration of the additional Directors who belong to the Executive Committee is as follows:

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Short-term employee benefits     2,193 1,039

Contributions into pension schemes     297 193

     2,490 1,232

Short-term employee benefits include salary, bonus, the provision of company cars, fuel for company cars and private medical insurance.

The principal reason for the large increase over the previous year is the inclusion of the bonus paid in 2009 in relation to 2008 as described in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on page 46.

The charge in relation to share-based payments is provided in Note 23 and relates to executive Directors and member of the Executive Committee.

During the year Severfield–Reeve Projects Ltd completed a building contract for P J Davison. At 31 December 2008 revenue taken on this contract in the 
year amounted to £121,000, of which the balance outstanding at the year end was £Nil.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 
Transactions between the Group and its associated undertakings are disclosed below.

During the year the Group purchased services in the ordinary course of business from Kennedy Watts Partnership Ltd at a cost of £1,631,000 (2007: 
£2,024,000). The amount outstanding at 31 December 2008 was £518,000 (2007: £524,000).

Loans outstanding from Fabsec Ltd at 31 December 2008 amounted to £614,000 (2007: £614,000). The Directors continue to have doubts regarding the 
collectability of these loans and consequently a provision of £543,000 which was made in 2005 is still in place leaving a balance at 31 December 2008 of 
£71,000 (2007: £71,000). During the year the Group purchased services in the ordinary course of business from Fabsec Ltd at a cost of £299,000 
(2007: £278,000). The amount outstanding at 31 December 2008 was £Nil (2007: £Nil).

36. General Information
Severfield–Rowen Plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 1985. The address of the registered office is given on 
page 25. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out on page 28. These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling 
because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations which have not been applied in these financial 
statements were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 3 (revised Jan. 2008) Business combinations
Amendment to IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements
Amendment to IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement: Eligible hedged items
IFRIC 16 Hedges of net investment in a foreign operation
IFRIC 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners
IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers
IFRS 2 (amended) Share based payment
IFRS 8  Operating segments
IAS 23 (revised Mar. 2007) Borrowing costs
IAS 1 (revised Sept. 2007) Presentation of financial statements

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements 
of the Group.
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     IFRS

  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Results

Revenue  394,325 300,656 295,084 236,722 204,277

Underlying operating profit*  55,107 42,684 29,118 19,303 12,108

Underlying profit before tax*  52,479 42,950 30,286 19,652 12,218

Non-underlying items  (9,885) (4,590) — — —

Profit attributable to equity holders
of Severfield–Rowen Plc  23,976 26,434 20,921 13,515 8,400

Assets employed

Non-current assets  177,987 173,279 51,988 44,560 34,872

Net current (liabilities)/assets  (33,355) (35,615) 25,266 18,034 15,472

Non-current liabilities  (24,869) (20,835) (11,029) (7,393) (3,049)

Net assets  119,763 116,829 66,225 55,201 47,295

Key statistics

Earnings per share:

Basic — underlying*  42.20p 35.74p 25.64p 16.60p 10.36p

Basic    27.06p 31.77p 25.64p 16.60p 10.36p

Diluted — underlying*   42.15p 35.70p 25.64p 16.60p 10.36p

Diluted   27.02p 31.73p 25.64p 16.60p 10.36p

Dividends per share  20.00p 20.00p 14.25p 9.25p 5.75p

Dividend cover (times)  2.1 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8

Share price — high  460.00p 620.0p 412.0p 241.5p 127.5p

 — low  131.25p 344.75p 241.5p 119.75p 85.0p

Key statistics for prior years have been restated to reflect the 4:1 share capital in October 2007.

* Underlying figures are stated before the amortisation of acquired intangibles and unrealised losses on derivative contracts.

Five Year Summary
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 Preliminary announcement of full year results     25 March 2009

Publication of Annual Report      28 April 2009

Annual General Meeting      3 June 2009

Payment of final dividend      16 June 2009

Announcement of interim results      August 2009

Payment of interim dividend      September 2009

Financial Calendar
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ROPEMAKER PLACE, LONDON
} Severfield–Reeve Structures

Located on a prominent City island site close to Moorgate and 
Liverpool Street, Ropemaker Place contains 20 storeys of commercial 
offices, covering an area of 46,500 sqm, plus ground and 
3 basement floors.

The project utilised almost 6,000 tonnes of structural steel, of which 
4,500 tonnes are coated with fire protection paint and over half are 
Fabsec plated beams with bespoke service openings.

THE PORTFOLIO
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 We have audited the parent Company financial statements of Severfield–Rowen 
Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Balance Sheet and 
the related notes 1 to 14. These parent Company financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Severfield–Rowen 
Plc for the year ended 31 December 2008 and on the information in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance 
with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company, and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the parent 
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice) are set out in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent Company financial statements in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent Company financial 
statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent Company financial 
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the Directors’ Report is 
consistent with the parent Company financial statements. The information given in 
the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the Chairman’s 
Statement, Chief Executive’s Review, Financial Review, and Corporate Social 
Responsibility sections that is cross-referred from the Principal Activity and Business 
Review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper 
accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the annual report as described in 
the contents section and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent 
Company financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
parent Company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
further information outside the annual report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures 
in the parent Company financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the 
significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of 
the parent Company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and 
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient 
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent Company financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity 
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the parent Company financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

l the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, 
of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008;

l the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

l the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent 
Company financial statements.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
Leeds
27 April 2009

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Severfield–Rowen Plc
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Company Balance Sheet
31 December 2008

      2008 2007

    Note £000 £000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets    4 59,624 28,988

Investments    5 108,089 108,089

     167,713 137,077

Current assets

Debtors    6 24,650 30,695

Cash at bank and in hand     — —

     24,650 30,695

Creditors — amounts falling due within one year   7 (128,966) (112,629)

Net current liabilities     (104,316) (81,934)

Total assets less current liabilities     63,397 55,143

Provisions for liabilities    8 — (1,060)

     63,397 54,083

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital    9 2,215 2,215

Share premium account    10 46,152 46,152

Other reserves    11 325 629

Profit and loss account    12 14,705 5,087

Equity and total shareholders’ funds     63,397 54,083

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 April 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

T G Haughey P J Davison

Director Director
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 1. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as 
required by the Companies Act 1985. They have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of freehold 
and long leasehold properties, and in accordance with applicable UK 
accounting standards (UK GAAP).

Profit and loss account
In accordance with the exemption allowed by section 230 of the 
Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own profit and 
loss account.

Cash flow
The Company is exempt from the requirements of Financial Reporting 
Standard No. 1 (Revised) “Cash Flow Statements”.

Tangible fixed assets
Freehold and long leasehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is provided on other fixed assets to write off the cost 
or revalued amount of each asset over its estimated useful life at the 
following rates: 

Freehold buildings 1% straight-line

Under FRS 15 the Company has adopted a policy of continuous 
revaluation of land and buildings.

Investments
Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impairment.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided 
at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an 
obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to pay 
less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise 
based on current tax rates and law. Timing differences arise from the 
inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations 
in periods different from those which they are included in financial 
statements.

Deferred tax is not provided on timing differences arising from the 
revaluation of fixed assets where there is no commitment to sell the 
asset, or on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and associates where 
there is no commitment to remit these earnings. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not 
that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

Share-based payments
Share-based payments are accounted for as described in the Group 
accounting policies on page 62.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 2. Operating profit
The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £2,000 (2007: £2,000).

The Company has no employees other than the Directors whose remuneration was borne by subsidiary undertakings.

3. Profit of the Company
The Company has taken advantage of Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 and consequently its profit and loss account is not presented as part of these 
accounts. The profit of the Company for the financial year amounted to £30,219,000 (2007: £6,777,000). Dividends paid and proposed are disclosed in Note 
8 to the Consolidated financial statements.

4. Tangible assets

      Freehold and

      long leasehold

      land and

      buildings

      £000

Cost

At 1 January 2008      29,907

Additions      5,088

Disposals      —

Transfer from Group companies      25,757

At 31 December 2008      60,752

Depreciation

At 1 January 2008      919

Provided in year      209

Disposals      —

Transfer from Group companies      —

At 31 December 2008      1,128

Net book value

At 31 December 2008      59,624

At 31 December 2007      28,988

The Company’s freehold and long leasehold land and buildings includes those which are occupied and used by some of the Company’s subsidiary 
undertakings.

The Company operates a system of regular valuations of freehold and long leasehold land and buildings across its portfolio which have included using FPD 
Savills and Rushton International Chartered Surveyors. This operates on a rotational basis, with one of the four main properties reviewed each year. The four 
properties are the Severfield–Reeve Structures Ltd and Severfield–Reeve Projects Ltd sites at Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate, the Watson Steel Structures Ltd 
site at Lostock Lane, Bolton and the Atlas Ward Structures Ltd site at Sherburn.  

To date, no material surplus or deficit over net book value has been identified, and accordingly no adjustment to revalue freehold and long leasehold land and 
buildings has been considered necessary.
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 5. Investments

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Investment in subsidiaries     107,554 107,554

Investment in associates     535 535

     108,089 108,089

Investment in subsidiaries
The Company has investments in the following significant subsidiary undertakings. All of the companies listed are registered in England.

Severfield–Reeve Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Watson Steel Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Atlas Ward Structures Ltd — steel fabrication
Fisher Engineering Ltd — steel fabrication
Rowen Structures Ltd — project contracting
Steelcraft Erection Services Ltd — steel erection
Severfield–Reeve International Ltd — overseas contracts
Severfield–Reeve Projects Ltd — project managers of building contracts

The Company owns the whole of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries noted above.

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Cost

At 1 January     107,554 2,152

Acquisition of the Action Merchants Ltd Group (Fisher Engineering)   — 92,198

Acquisition of Dalton Airfield Estate Ltd    — 13,204

At 31 December     107,554 107,554

Investment in associates
The Company has an interest in two associated companies as follows:

     Holding % Class of capital

Kennedy Watts Partnership Ltd — CAD/CAM steelwork design   25.1 Preferred ordinary

Fabsec Ltd — development of fire beam   25.0 Ordinary

      £000

Cost

At 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008     535

Investment in joint ventures
On 17 November 2008 a formal agreement was signed in India with JSW Building Systems Ltd (a subsidiary of JSW Steel Ltd of India) to form a 50/50 joint 
venture to create a structural steelwork business in Bellary and Mumbai, India, serving primarily the Indian market.

No investment in the joint venture had taken place at 31 December 2008.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 6. Debtors

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Other debtors     3,527 118

Prepayments and accrued income     — —

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings    20,850 30,577

Deferred tax asset (note 8)     273 —

     24,650 30,695

Within other debtors there is deferred expenditure of £Nil (2007: £Nil) due after more than one year.

7. Creditors — amounts falling due within one year

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Bank borrowings     49,540 69,719

Other creditors and accruals     98 373

Corporation tax     96 96

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings    79,232 42,441

     128,966 112,629

Borrowings represent the Group’s revolving credit facility from the Royal Bank of Scotland and National Australia Bank jointly as disclosed in note 22 to the 
Consolidated financial statements. The facility is available for three years ending 21 August 2010.

8. Provisions for liabilities

Deferred tax

The amount of deferred tax provided and unprovided in the financial statements is:

 Amount provided Amount unprovided

   2008 2007 2008 2007

   £000 £000 £000 £000

Excess capital allowances   (273) 1,229 — —

Other timing differences   — (169) — —

   (273) 1,060 — —

Deferred Taxation — Movement for the year

      £000

At 1 January 2008      1,060

Current year charge      19

Prior year adjustment      (1,352)

At 31 December 2008 (note 6)      (273)
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 9. Share capital

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Authorised:

108,000,000 ordinary shares of 2.5p each    2,700 2,700

Issued and fully paid:

88,607,876 ordinary shares of 2.5p each    2,215 2,215

There are no share options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil).

10. Share premium account

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Balance as at 1 January     46,152 9,770

Premium arising on the issue of equity shares    — 36,382

Balance at 31 December     46,152 46,152

11. Other reserves

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Balance at 1 January     629 25

Share-based payment movements in year    (304) 604

Balance at 31 December     325 629

12. Profit and loss account

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Balance at 1 January     5,087 11,367

Dividends paid     (20,601) (13,057)

Net profit for the year     30,219 6,777

Balance at 31 December     14,705 5,087

13. Capital commitments

     2008 2007

     £000 £000

Contracted for but not provided in the financial statements    — —

14. Contingent liabilities
The Company has provided an unlimited guarantee to secure any bank overdrafts and loans of all other Group companies. At 31 December 2008 these 
amounted to £181,000 (2007: £Nil).

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
Year ended 31 December 2008
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 SEVERFIELD–ROWEN PLC 
IS THE LARGEST SPECIALIST 
STRUCTURAL STEELWORK 
GROUP IN THE UK, WITH 
A REPUTATION FOR 
PERFORMANCE AND VALUE.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

04 05 06 07 08

Revenue

£394.3m
é31.2%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying Basic Earnings
Per Share

42.2p
é18.1%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying Profi t 
Before Tax

£52.5m
é22.2%

04 05 06 07 08

Underlying 
Operating Margin

14.0%
ê1.4%

04 05 06 07 08

Profi t After Tax

£24.0m
ê9.1%

04 05 06 07 08

Dividend Per Share

20.0p
= 0.0%

Severfi eld—Rowen Plc Annual Report 2008

Severfield-Reeve Structures Ltd
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate
Dalton
Thirsk
North Yorkshire
YO7 3JN
Tel: 01845 577 896
Fax: 01845 577 411

Fisher Engineering Ltd
Ballinamallard
Enniskillen
Co Fermanagh
Northern Ireland
BT94 2FY
Tel: 02866 388 521
Fax: 02866 388 706

Rowen Structures Ltd
17 Maisies Way
The Village
South Normanton
Derbyshire
DE55 2DS
Tel: 01773 860 086
Fax: 01773 814 077

Atlas Ward Structures Ltd
Sherburn
Malton
North Yorkshire
YO17 8PZ
Tel: 01944 710 421
Fax: 01944 710 387

Severfield-Reeve International Ltd
PO Box 519
Abu Dhabi
United Arab Emirates
Tel: +971 2 644 2600
Fax: +971 2 644 2387

Severfield-Reeve Projects Ltd
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate
Dalton
Thirsk
North Yorkshire
YO7 3JN
Tel: 01845 578 082
Fax: 01845 577 942

Watson Steel Structures Ltd
Lostock Lane
Lostock
Bolton
Lancashire
BL6 4BL
Tel: 01204 699 999
Fax: 01204 694 543

JSW Severfield Structures Ltd
401 Deluxe Court
R V Bambardekar Road
Station Road
Bandra West 
Mumbai
Tel: +91 22 6731 7000
Fax: +91 22 2651 2685

Steelcraft Erection Services Ltd
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate
Dalton
Thirsk
North Yorkshire
YO7 3JN
Tel: 01845 577 896
Fax: 01845 578 477

JSW Severfield
Structures

Severfield–Reeve
Structures

Atlas Ward
Structures

Watson Steel
Structures

Fisher 
Engineering

Steelcraft 
Erection
Services

Severfield-Reeve
Projects

Rowen
Structures

Severfield–Reeve
International 

(Project Office, Abu Dhabi)

Severfield-Rowen Plc
Dalton Airfield Industrial Estate
Dalton
Thirsk
North Yorkshire
YO7 3JN
Tel: 01845 577 896
Fax: 01845 577 411
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